

Battery warm-up methodologies at subzero temperatures for automotive applications: Recent advances and perspectives

Hu, X., Zheng, Y., Howey, D. A., Perez, H., Foley, A., & Pecht, M. (2020). Battery warm-up methodologies at subzero temperatures for automotive applications: Recent advances and perspectives. Progress in Energy and Combustion Science. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pecs.2019.100806

Published in:

Progress in Energy and Combustion Science

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Queen's University Belfast - Research Portal:

Link to publication record in Queen's University Belfast Research Portal

Publisher rights Copyright 2019 the authors.

This is an open access article published under a Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the author and source are cited.

General rights

Copyright for the publications made accessible via the Queen's University Belfast Research Portal is retained by the author(s) and / or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing these publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

Take down policy

The Research Portal is Queen's institutional repository that provides access to Queen's research output. Every effort has been made to ensure that content in the Research Portal does not infringe any person's rights, or applicable UK laws. If you discover content in the Research Portal that you believe breaches copyright or violates any law, please contact openaccess@qub.ac.uk.

Open Access

This research has been made openly available by Queen's academics and its Open Research team. We would love to hear how access to this research benefits you. - Share your feedback with us: http://go.qub.ac.uk/oa-feedback

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Progress in Energy and Combustion Science

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pecs



Battery warm-up methodologies at subzero temperatures for automotive applications: Recent advances and perspectives



Xiaosong Hu^{a,*}, Yusheng Zheng^a, David A. Howey^b, Hector Perez^c, Aoife Foley^{d,**}, Michael Pecht^e

^a Department of Automotive Engineering, Chongqing University, Chongqing 400044, China

^b Department of Engineering Science, University of Oxford, OX1 3PJ, Oxford, UK

^c Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University Of California, Berkeley, CA 94720, USA

^d School of Mechanical & Aerospace Engineering, Queen's University, Belfast, BT9 5AH, UK

^e Center for Advanced Life Cycle Engineering, University of Maryland, College Park, MD 20742, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 15 June 2019 Accepted 25 October 2019

keywords: Lithium-ion batteries Low temperature Electric vehicles Thermal management system Preheating strategies

ABSTRACT

Electric vehicles play a crucial role in reducing fuel consumption and pollutant emissions for more sustainable transportation. Lithium-ion batteries, as the most expensive but least understood component in electric vehicles, directly affect vehicular driving range, safety, comfort, and reliability. However, the overall performance of traction batteries deteriorates significantly at low temperatures due to the reduced electrochemical reaction rate and accelerated health degradation, such as lithium plating. Without timely and effective actions, this performance degradation causes operational difficulties and safety hazards for electric vehicles. Battery warm-up/preheating is of particular importance when operating electric vehicles in cold geographical regions. To this end, this paper reviews various battery preheating strategies, including external convective and conductive preheating, as well as the latest progress in internal heating solutions. The effects of low temperature on batteries from the perspectives of cell performance as well as materials properties are briefly summarized. Thermal science issues involved in warm-up are also elucidated. The framework of battery management systems (BTMS) at low temperatures, including the key design considerations at different battery integration levels and the overall classification of warm-up approaches into external and internal groups, are introduced in detail. Next, a comprehensive literature review on different warm-up strategies is presented, and the basic principles, advantages, disadvantages, and potential improvements of each strategy are elaborated. Finally, future trends of battery warm-up methods are discussed in terms of key technologies, promising opportunities, and challenges.

Crown Copyright © 2019 Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license. (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/)

E-mail addresses: xiaosonghu@ieee.org (X. Hu), david.howey@eng.ox.ac.uk (D.A. Howey), a.foley@qub.ac.uk (A. Foley), pecht@umd.edu (M. Pecht).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pecs.2019.100806

0360-1285/Crown Copyright © 2019 Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license. (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/)

Abbreviations: AC, alternating current; ACB, all-climate battery; ACT, activation terminal; AHE, air heat exchanger; BCU, battery control unit; BEV, battery electric vehicle; BTMS, battery thermal management systems; CC, constant current; CCD, constant current discharge; CHE, coolant heat exchanger; CHM, charger module; CNT, carbon nanotubes; COP, coefficient of performance; CPCM, composite phase change material; CV, constant voltage; CVD, constant voltage discharge; DC, direct current; DC/DC, direct current to direct current; DP, dynamic programming; ECT, Electrochemical-thermal; EEC, equivalent electrical circuit; EMS, energy management strategy; electric vehicle; HESS, hybrid energy storage system; HEV, hybrid electric vehicle; HVAC, heating ventilation and air condition; ICE, internal combustion engine; ICBT, insulated-gate bipolar transistors; Li-ion, Lithium-ion; LPF, lithium plating-free; SEI, solid-electric vehicle; PTC, positive temperature coefficient; RETC, reduced electro-thermal coupled; SAC, sinusoidal alternating current; SC, supercapacitors; SHLB, self-heating lithium-ion battery; SOC, state of charge; SOH, state of health; UDDS, Urban Dynamometer Driving Schedule.

^{*} Corresponding author at: Chongqing University, Chongqing, China.

^{**} Corresponding author at: Queen's University, Belfast, BT9 5AH, UK.

Contents

1.	Introduction									
2.	Key scientific issues		3							
	2.1. Low-temperature performance of Li-ion battery		3							
	2.2. Effects of cold climates on Li-ion batteries from a materials perspective		3							
	2.3. Thermal science involved in battery warm-up processes		4							
3.	A framework of battery thermal management system		4							
	3.1. Design consideration		4							
	3.2. Classification of battery warm-up strategies		6							
4.	External heating		6							
	4.1. Convective heating		7							
	4.1.1. Air heating		7							
	4.1.2. Liquid heating		9							
	4.1.3. Heat pump heating		10							
	4.2. Conductive heating		10							
	4.2.1. Resistance heating		10							
	4.2.2. Peltier-effect heating		11							
	4.2.3. Heat pipe heating		12							
	4.2.4. Burner heating		14							
	4.2.5. PCM heating		14							
	4.3. Summary of external heating strategies.									
5. Internal heating										
5.1. Internal self-heating.										
	5.2. Mutual pulse heating									
	5.3. Self-Heating lithium-ion battery		17							
	5.4. Alternating current heating		19							
	5.5. Summary of internal heating strategies		21							
6.	Remarks and future trends	••••	22							
7.	Conclusions		24							
Dec	eclaration of Competing Interest	••••	24							
Refe	ferences	••••	24							

1. Introduction

With the rapid economic and social development, there is an ever-growing need for energy resources, especially in the transportation sector. The global demand for energy will increase by nearly one-third by 2040, and oil will still dominate the transport demand [1]. Transportation electrification is a promising technology to counteract ever-rising energy demands and facilitate a sustainable energy future [2–5]. In the past two decades, various electric vehicles (EVs), such as battery electric vehicles (BEVs), hybrid electric vehicles (HEVs), and plug-in hybrid electric vehicles (PHEVs), have been developed and deployed to replace the traditional internal combustion engine (ICE) vehicles [6-9]. Traction batteries directly affect the performance, safety, and economy of these electrified passenger vehicles. However, they have technological and cost bottlenecks. Therefore, the development of traction batteries, in terms of electrode/electrolyte materials, manufacturing techniques, and system integration/controls, is critical to the large-scale deployment of electrified passenger vehicles in the future [10,11].

Lithium-ion (Li-ion) batteries, with high power and energy density, high efficiency, long cycle life, low discharge rate, and environmental friendliness [10,12], are widely adopted as the energy storage component in current electric passenger vehicles. Nevertheless, the performance of Li-ion batteries is seriously undermined by cold climates, especially at subzero temperatures. Li-ion batteries with carbonaceous anodes, which are currently the dominant type of vehicular traction batteries, are generally known for their poor performance at such temperatures, caused by reduced conductivity of electrolyte and solid-electrolyte interface (SEI) [13], slow solidstate lithium diffusion [14,15], high polarization of graphite anode [16] and increased charge-transfer resistance at the electrolyteelectrode interface [17-19]. Internal battery resistance increases drastically at extreme conditions below $-20 \,^{\circ}$ C, which inevitably leads to a considerable decrease in power sourcing/sinking capabilities [17]. Furthermore, there is a high risk of lithium plating at the surface of the anode when the battery is charged at extremely low temperatures, resulting in significant capacity loss and even internal short circuits once the growing lithium dendrites pierce the battery separator [20-22]. For electric passenger vehicles, the risk exists when they require charging operations in extreme weather and the battery temperature is below zero. Also, a cold start-up is typically needed after parking EV for a long period in cold weather. In such cases, the performance degradation of Li-ion batteries at low temperatures leads to a significant reduction of the driving range of electric passenger vehicles and brings potential safety hazards as well. In 2018, the global sales of EVs were nearly 2 million and the majority of them are distributed in China (1.1 million), Europe (385 thousand) and the United States (361 thousand) [23]. The inconvenience brought by frigid weather would hinder the popularity of EVs and make them less attractive in cold geographical regions such as northern China, Europe, and the United States, where the recorded average winter temperatures are often below 0 °C [24]. Therefore, a big challenge for popularizing electric passenger vehicles is how to ensure normal and safe battery operations at extreme temperatures, especially below −20 °C.

To address this problem, many efforts at the battery material level have been made, including the improvements in the electrolyte, anode, and cathode materials, to improve Li-ion battery performance at low temperatures to some extent [25]. Nevertheless, these improvements cannot guarantee promising overall low-temperature properties of Li-ion batteries in the short term. Other solutions can be found at the operational level, where the main-

stream methodology in the literature is to preheat batteries from extremely low temperatures to a pre-specified temperature before normal operations, especially before fast charging [26,27]. This process can be realized through BTMS in various ways, and batteries can restore the performance as soon as their temperature rises above zero. In recent years, considerable research efforts have been dedicated to developing the strategies of warming up Li-ion batteries in cold climate. Different warm-up approaches have their own merits and weakness. Therefore, the choice of appropriate preheating method is crucial to the overall performance of electric passenger vehicles at low temperatures.

Traditional battery preheating strategies typically work externally or internally, as surveyed in [28–30]. The two main strategies are (1) taking advantage of a specially designed thermal management system to transfer the heat generated by an external heat source, through a heat transfer medium that can be either solid or fluid, to the battery pack; and (2) applying a current to a battery and, due to battery internal resistance, generating internal heat to warm up the battery. Each strategy has limitations. For the first strategy, the relatively long warm-up time, high energy consumption, and low-temperature uniformity are the main concerns due to heat loss and limited heat transfer efficiency [31]. For the second strategy, current profiles that reduce the preheating time and minimize battery degradation need to be further explored [32].

Thermal management systems with higher heating efficiency have recently been investigated to address these concerns. Innovative ideas, such as incorporating more thermally conductive materials into BTMS, are likely to become promising solutions in this research area. More recently, a diversity of improved current parameters and waveforms are synthesized in internal preheating, in order to seek a delicate trade-off between heating time and concomitant battery degradation [33]. An emerging battery structure, namely, self-heating lithium-ion battery (SHLB), has provided a ground-breaking milestone for such a trade-off between preheating effect, energy consumption, and battery degradation [34].

The overarching goal of this paper is to provide a timely, comprehensive review of the latest progress in research and development of battery warm-up techniques at low temperatures for current commercial Li-ion traction batteries with graphite anodes. This work goes beyond existing relevant survey articles on thermal management [28,29]. Novel methods recently proposed, as well as a systematic classification, are explained to better reflect the technological status and development directions of this ever-evolving research field. Unlike other studies on this topic, this paper provides a summary of design considerations of BTMS at low temperatures at different battery integration levels, including cell level, module/pack level, and system level. Furthermore, a comprehensive review of various warm-up methods is presented. Various possible heating solutions for EVs in frigid weather, regardless of their technique maturity, have been extensively investigated. For external strategies, the heat transfer characteristics and heating performances are discussed in detail. Improvements on ameliorating the heat transfer rate and enhancing the heating efficiency in the external preheating systems, including the applications of nanomaterials such as nanofluids and nano-enhanced phase change materials (PCM), the adoptions of novel heating elements such as heat pumps and film-based panel heaters, are, for the first time, surveyed in the context. As for internal preheating, the latest SHLB technology and its performance improvements are presented. In addition, recent advances in alternating current (AC) heating with different current waveforms and parameters, as well as their heating effects, are also covered. Both external and internal heating strategies are discussed in terms of their strengths, weaknesses, and maturity.

The remainder of this paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, the effects of low temperature on batteries from the

perspective of materials are summarized, and the thermal science issues involved in warm-up are first elucidated. The key design considerations of BTMS at low temperatures and the overall classification for existing warm-up strategies are elaborated in Section 3. Section 4 introduces the external heating strategies, while Section 5 elucidates the internal heating strategies. The outlook and future trends are presented in Section 6, and the key conclusions are given in Section 7.

2. Key scientific issues

2.1. Low-temperature performance of Li-ion battery

It is well known that the cold climate has a significant impact on the performance of the Li-ion battery. Thus, it is important to understand the extent to which this energy storage device suffers from severe performance degradation.

A notable phenomenon of Li-ion battery at subzero temperatures is the significantly reduced discharge capacity. At -10 °C, a 2.2 Ah 18650 cylindrical cell could only retain about 1.7 Ah discharge capacity at 1C discharge rate and less discharge capacity is obtained using a higher discharge rate (about 0.9 Ah in 4.6C) [35]. The decreased discharge capacity would lead to a reduction of the energy provided by the battery. A 100 Ah prismatic LiFeMnPO₄ HEV battery was tested to have an energy delivery of 226 Wh under 1C discharge at -10 °C while the available energy could be 293 Wh at 25 °C [36]. Besides, the cell resistance increases dramatically at subzero temperatures. According to Zhang et al., the total resistance of a LiCoO2-based 18650 cell at -20 °C could be over than 1 Ω while this value is almost less than 0.1 Ω at 20 °C [17]. This drastic resistance increase will limit the power delivered by the battery. Experimental results also show that an 18650 Li-ion battery could only have 1.25% power density at -40 °C compared to the obtained values at 25 °C [37]. Meanwhile, charging the battery at low temperatures is likely to trigger lithium plating, which often leads to severe battery capacity fade. At -10 °C, an 11.5 Ah Liion cell was detected to have its capacity degradation rate increasing sharply when then charge current exceeds 0.25C and capacity loss can reach even 25% after 40 cycles at a charge rate of 0.5C [21]. Higher charge rate would lead to severer capacity loss. Even at 0 °C, a single charge cycle at 1C current would cause a 3.6% irreversible capacity loss of a 7.5 Ah cell [38]. Therefore, the charge rate of Li-ion battery is usually small at low temperatures in order to prevent lithium plating, which extends the charge durations dramatically.

2.2. Effects of cold climates on Li-ion batteries from a materials perspective

The performance degradation of Li-ion batteries at low temperatures is due to the changes in battery materials properties, which typically occurs on a micro-scale and makes the stored chemical energy unusable in cold weather. Such microscale changes make Li-ion batteries exhibit low charging acceptance, reduced discharge capacity, and declined power capability in a macroscale at low temperatures. Therefore, the intrinsic properties of main battery components, including anode, electrolyte, and cathode, directly affects the battery performance at temperature extremes.

The main mechanisms examined in the existing reports include [39]: 1) the interfacial phenomena in the anode, e.g., the SEI growth at a graphite anode; 2) the sluggish kinetics in the cathode, like the charge-transfer resistance increase, the inter-grain resistance increase, and the slow solid-state Li diffusion; 3) the increased electrolyte viscosity. Fig. 1 shows a variety of material factors contributing to the declined battery performance in cold weather, as summarized by Rodrigues et al. [39]. At the anode, the



Fig. 1. Battery performance degradation mechanisms at low temperatures from a material perspective.

passivation layers at the surface of graphite, known as SEI, become less permissible to lithium ions at subzero temperatures, impeding the motion of lithium ions from the electrolyte into graphite particles. Specifically, the growing resistance contributed by charge transfer and SEI leads to a significant increase in cell impedance [18,40]. In addition, the solid-state diffusion of lithium ions descends drastically, which is more obvious in the lithiation process (charging) than in the delithiation process (discharging) [15]. All these phenomena in anode contribute to an increase in cell polarization, making the graphite anode highly susceptible to lithium plating during charging. For the cathode, the charge-transfer resistance can be more than 300% higher than that at room temperature, with much larger value at lithiated state (the discharged state) [41]. High grain-boundary resistance and slow solid-state diffusion are also regarded as intrinsic limitations. All these three factors contribute to sluggish lithium transport and poor electronic conductivity in the cathode. In terms of the electrolyte, both increased viscosity and reduced conductivity result in poor cell performance. The former factor weakens the mobility of lithium ions in the electrolyte solutions and the wettability of the electrolyte at electrodes, while the latter one accelerates the lithium-ion depletion near electrodes [40,42].

Various techniques for improving battery materials can extend the temperature frontiers of Li-ion batteries to some extent. For example, the anode using lithium titanium oxide instead of graphite or nanoparticle size; the electrolyte using organic solvents and cosolvents with low melting point and low viscosity; the cathode using doping or reduced particle size for a shorter ion diffusional path length [39]. However, commercial adoption of these enhanced materials to improve the overall cell-level performance at low temperatures constitutes a great challenge since trade-offs must be examined to balance the strengths and weaknesses of all those materials, which is difficult to achieve in a short or medium term.

2.3. Thermal science involved in battery warm-up processes

In addition to improvements of battery materials themselves, operating strategies can be used to eliminate adverse thermal effects due to cold weather, by controlling the battery temperature within a favorable temperature range. In this way, improving the battery low-temperature performance becomes a thermal issue, and researchers need to understand the thermal behavior of the battery and associated heat transfer characteristics in the cell level, module level, and pack level. To warm up a battery from a subzero temperature efficiently, the heat generation inside or outside the battery cell, heat conduction, and heat convection, etc., must be precisely modeled and controlled so that the temperature rise of the battery can be regulated well. If an external heat source exists, heat can be transferred to the battery either convectively or conductively, with some heat losses to the ambient environment on the heat transfer path.



Fig. 2. Thermal issues involved in a battery warm-up process at low temperatures.

During battery warm-up, the cell geometry plays a significant role in the heat transfer from the surrounding environment to the cell interior, and thus affects the temperature distribution within the cell as well as the module/pack. Specifically, in cylindrical cells, the heat transfer process mainly occurs along the axial and radial direction. While in prismatic cells or pouch cells, the heat is usually transferred along the in-plane and through-plane direction. Besides, the thermal conductivity exhibits anisotropy in both cylindrical and prismatic cells in two directions [29], resulting in nonuniform temperature distribution within a single cell. In a battery module/pack, since the heat transfer coefficient is not the same at each position, the combination of the aforementioned factors contributes to thermal gradients inside the battery pack. Additionally, if heat generation also exists inside the battery, the battery thermal behavior (also can be affected by cell geometry [43-45]) and the heat exchange with surroundings need to be meticulously modeled in order to manage the battery temperature rise, especially for large-scale integration of batteries.

Monitoring the battery temperature during the battery heating process is also important. The temperature measurement locations are different in terms of cell geometry. For cylindrical cells, the temperature needs to be measured at different points on the cylindrical surface along the axis direction [46,47]. For prismatic cells or pouch cells, temperature measurement is required at multiple points on the two largest side surfaces [48,49]. The cell temperature is typically represented by averaging the measured temperature at different points.

Typically, operating such a preheating system requires some energy. The energy consumption needs to be considered during the warm-up process. Therefore, heat transfer paths and patterns need to be comprehensively designed to reduce undesirable heat losses, for which some improvements can be made based on theories and methodologies from thermal science. The main thermal mechanisms for battery preheating are shown in Fig. 2, in which a cylindrical battery cell is used as an example.

3. A framework of battery thermal management system

3.1. Design consideration

The goal of battery thermal management at low temperatures is to restore the energy and power capability of Li-ion batteries as well as eliminate lithium plating through heating the batteries from a subzero temperature before the operation. However, the preheating process under cold climate typically leads to extra energy consumption in EV, which makes heating batteries from low temperatures more difficult than cooling the batteries from elevated temperatures [50]. Therefore, energy optimization is needed



Fig. 3. Design considerations of BTMS at low temperatures at different battery integration levels. Adapted with permission from [55] (Copyright 2001 Springer Nature).

in the preheating systems in order to maximize the operating temperature range of batteries without reducing cabin comfort and depleting the stored battery energy [31]. Furthermore, the heating process cannot last too long for practical considerations, without exacerbating battery aging simultaneously. Considering this, the target temperature of preheating for the cold start-up is usually set to be above zero where batteries can restore most of their capacity and power capability. For fast charging with charge rate higher than 1C, the target temperature of warm-up needs to be much higher than 0 °C to prevent lithium plating under such a high current rate. In addition, temperature uniformity after the warm-up process plays a significant role in the performance of the batteries in both the cell level and module/pack level. For a battery cell, the uneven temperature distribution within the cell will cause local deterioration which results in battery performance degradation and life span reduction [29]. For a battery system, unbalanced charging and discharging will very likely cause temperature differences between cells and modules, which will further result in different cell aging rates and reduced overall capacity of the pack [51,52]. Therefore, preheating strategies are expected to warm up the batteries uniformly in a module/pack, with temperature difference among cells as well as modules less than 5 °C after the heating process. Other factors, such as the overall cost, system complexity addition, safety, and reliability, should also be considered when designing BTMS at low temperatures. The aforementioned design factors are listed below [28,29]:

- (a) The electrical energy consumption;
- (b) The preheating duration;
- (c) The effect of heating on battery aging;
- (d) The temperature uniformity of the battery cell, module, and pack;
- (e) The overall cost including the cost for the system, operational cost, and maintenance cost;
- (f) The complexity addition, such as the extra devices, weight, and space needed due to the integration of the heating system;
- (g) The safety and reliability of the heating system.

in which (a)-(d) are treated as the performance metrics of various preheating strategies in this review while (e)-(g) are only regarded as extra consideration of the BTMS at low temperatures.

Normally, the performance of Li-ion batteries at low temperatures is decided by the intrinsic material properties. However, material improvements (including electrode modification, novel materials for electrodes and electrolyte) are long-term issues in the development of Li-ion batteries. Thermal management operation is demonstrated to be an effective measure to improve the lowtemperature performance of Li-ion batteries. Since the battery system in EV consists of batteries at different levels, including the cell level, module/pack level, and system level, considerations at each level are usually different with particular focuses when designing the battery preheating systems, as shown in Fig. 3. At the cell level, it is critical to model the cell behavior precisely at low temperatures since acquiring the cell electrical potential, internal heat generation, and aging characteristics accurately are essential to the development of effective thermal management strategies. Besides, heat transfer between the cell and surrounding environment should be considered with regard to the cell geometry when designing the heat transfer path. Temperature distribution inside the cell, which is affected by the anisotropic heat transfer and different cell geometry, can become more uneven in large-format Li-ion automotive batteries. Additionally, energy consumption and heating time should also be taken into account. For module/pack level, accurate modeling of the battery module/pack is important to obtaining the heat generation, the energy and power capability of the whole module/pack in cold climate. Unlike the heat transfer of a single cell, the heat transfer in a battery module/pack is the combination of cell-to-cell interaction and module/pack-to-surrounding interaction, which could be affected by the cell geometry as well as the cell configuration inside the module/pack. The uneven temperature distribution inside the module/pack, which could trigger cellto-cell temperature and voltage inconsistency, varies with the heat transfer and cell configuration of the module/pack. When batteries are integrated into a large-scale energy storage component in EV, the increased complexity of the low-temperature thermal management system in EV needs to be considered. Besides, the heating operations using battery power, including heating the powertrain and cabin, are expected to have minimized cost. To this end, exploring effective energy management strategies at the system level is critical in order to achieve cost-effective heating operations, and these control strategies would vary with different powertrain hybridization and electrification extent. In addition, system heating strategies should not be at the expense of sacrificing cabin comfort of electric passenger vehicles in cold climate.

Despite that the low-temperature operations of battery systems are emphasized in this paper, the cooling operations of batteries from elevated temperatures are also critical to the performance of EV. At high temperatures, Li-ion batteries are susceptible to accelerated components decomposition and a series of side reactions, which inevitably exacerbate the battery degradation process and increase the risk of thermal runaway [53,54]. As such, the design and addition of the battery preheating system should not affect battery cooling performance at elevated temperatures to ensure that the same BTMS performs the cooling and heating role efficiently in all climate.

3.2. Classification of battery warm-up strategies

Many battery preheating strategies have been proposed in the past two decades, and the mainstream approaches are briefly reviewed in [29,31,56]. This section gives an overview of the existing preheating techniques and a widely used classification to reveal the relationships between such strategies and their common characteristics, which may help readers better understand the state of the art of this research domain.

Several typical battery preheating techniques were first introduced by Pesaran et al. [57,58]. In their work, two criteria for preheating batteries, namely the source of the energy/heat and the energy/heat transfer patterns during heating, were identified and could be treated as the classification standards for existing approaches. The classification based on these two criteria is shown in Fig. 4. According to criterion (a), the heating strategies could be divided into three groups: (1) engine heat-based heating by using fluid (air or liquid) as the heat transfer medium; (2) battery energy-based heating, in which the energy comes from the battery itself; (3) generator/inverter electricity based heating, which requires additional hardware. According to criterion (b), those strategies could be categorized into only two groups in terms of their heat transfer pattern and whether the batteries are heated externally or internally. Various heating approaches exist in each group.

The two criteria mentioned earlier are applied to different preheating strategies. Current literature tends to focus on the heat transfer characteristics of the preheating process and thus divide



Fig. 4. Classification of preheating strategies based on two criteria: (a) the energy/heat source, and (b) the energy/heat transfer pattern during preheating.



Fig. 5. Classification of existing preheating strategies based on the location of heat generation.

the heating approaches into external heating and internal heating [31,59]. However, the words "external" and "internal" were not defined before Wang et al. [31], who regarded the internal heating strategies as an alternative where the heat is generated from the source directly without passing the battery surface. Based on this definition, "external heating" and "internal heating" can be defined with respect to the location of heat generation, which is specified by the battery boundary.

This review uses the mainstream criterion, namely the heat transfer pattern during the preheating process, to identify recently proposed warm-up techniques. Fig. 5 shows the classification of preheating strategies and outlines the overall organization of this review article. The existing strategies are primarily grouped into external heating and internal heating. In external heating, although heat is generated outside the battery boundary, it can warm up the battery either convectively or conductively. Thus external heating strategies are characterized by the way in which the battery is directly heated. Convective heating includes air, liquid, and heat pump heating, whereas conductive heating includes resistance, Peltier-effect, heat pipes, PCM, and burner heating. In some strategies, such as heat pipes and vehicular power system heating, although fluid is also involved in the warm-up process, the battery is directly heated through heat conduction, and thus these strategies are considered conductive heating.

Internal heating is generated inside the battery, and different strategies are distinguished by the preheating circuit. Specifically, internal self-heating uses the battery and a load to form the circuit. Mutual pulse heating uses the battery and another energy reservoir to realize the charge/discharge process. SHLB does not need an external circuit component; instead, they use an artificially inserted metal foil to form the electric circuit that warms up the battery. AC heating typically makes use of the battery and an AC source to compose the circuit.

4. External heating

External heating strategies generally use a heat source outside the battery cells (e.g., an electric heater or a thermoelectric device) to generate the majority of heat used for battery warm-up. The heat is then transferred to the battery cells convectively or conductively to heat them up to a pre-specified temperature value, where the battery system can restore most of their energy and power capability to meet the mileage and power demand of EV or the batteries can be charged using high current rate without inducing lithium plating at the graphite anode. The configurations of BTMS for external heating often vary with respect to warm-up strategies, in which the mass, geometry, and arrangement of the battery cells, the placement and the properties of the heat sources, the heat transfer characteristics from heat sources to battery cells could be very different and, thus, the preheating performance would differ from case to case.

4.1. Convective heating

Convective heating typically uses heat transfer media such as air or liquid to absorb the heat released from the heat source and takes advantage of the fluid flow to heat battery cells externally. In this type of method, an electrical heater or a thermoelectric heater is always needed, which can be powered either by batteries or external power source, to generate an adequate amount of heat for warming up the heat transfer medium and the battery cells. To reduce the uneven temperature distribution among cells within the battery pack, the heat transfer medium in the preheating system is required to be circulated as a way of balancing heat provided for each cell and increasing the convective heat transfer coefficient. As such, extra components are needed in this system to reinforce the circulation process. If air is used as the transfer medium, a fan is always required, whereas, for liquid, a pump is needed.

4.1.1. Air heating

A typical convective heating strategy using air as the heat transfer medium was proposed by Ji et al. [28] and can be further illustrated in Fig. 6. This heating system consists of battery cells, a heater, a fan, an airflow channel, and other control components. At low temperatures, the heater powered by the battery can produce a large amount of heat to heat the air in this system, and the warm air can subsequently heat the battery through convection. In this battery-powered preheating case, an additional amount of heat can be generated inside the battery owing to its internal resistance. This additional amount of heat can benefit the battery warm-up process by accelerating the cell temperature increase. Therefore, precise modeling of heat generation inside the cell and the cellto-surrounding heat interaction is critical to the control of battery temperature in this self-powered heating scenario. Besides, when EV has access to external power sources (e.g., a charging stand)



Fig. 6. Schematic of an air heating system. Adapted with permission from [28] (Copyright 2013 Elsevier).



Fig. 7. Cell voltage and temperature variation during battery-powered air heating. Reproduced with permission from [28] (Copyright 2013 Elsevier).

during preheating, the fan and heater can be powered by the external power source instead of batteries. In such a case, the heat generation in this preheating system consumes grid energy rather than the battery energy so that there is no heat generated inside the battery cells, and the heating process becomes a pure heat transfer problem.

In [28], the authors established a cell-level model for the battery-powered air heating method in an enclosed space, where the boundary was assumed to be adiabatic. In their study, a single 18650 cell with 2.2 Ah was studied instead of the whole battery pack, and the heat generation inside the cell was captured by an electrochemical-thermal (ECT) coupled model. The airflow channel was designed to be along the axial direction of the cylindrical cell, and the airflow pattern was assumed to be circular-tube annulus flow between the channel wall and lateral surface of the cell. Their simulation results of this battery-powered strategy are presented in Fig. 7. There is a voltage decrease of the cell at the beginning of the heating, but with the cell temperature rise, the voltage begins to increase gradually. Using a heater with resistances of 0.8 Ω , the cell can be heated from $-20 \,^{\circ}$ C to $20 \,^{\circ}$ C in 201 s. The heating time can be notably reduced to 85 s using a lower resistance heater of 0.4 Ω due to the fact that both larger voltage drop inside the cell and increased current outside the cell contribute to higher heat generation rate. However, considering the operational safety of the battery, the resistance of the heater should be carefully designed to limit the discharge rate, because the high discharge rate and the increased battery resistance at low-temperature extremes would cause the battery voltage to drop below its lower cut-off voltage at the beginning of heating, which is most likely to trigger cell over-discharge. Except for the resistance of the heater, airflow characteristic also has an impact on the heating performance. Turbulent airflow was pointed out to improve the heat transfer between the heater and air significantly, thus making the heating system more efficient.

Wang et al. [60] applied the air heating method to a battery pack. An air heating box with an inlet and an outlet was designed, in which 11 sets of resistance wires powered by an external power source are wound in parallel to heat the air. The heating box is directly connected in series to the original air cooling system so that the air flowing to the battery pack can be heated in advance. Then the warm air could be sent to the battery pack by fans to heat the low-temperature batteries. The battery pack can be heated from $-15 \,^{\circ}$ C to $0 \,^{\circ}$ C in 21 min.

Song et al. [61] experimentally validated the effectiveness of air heating using an external power source. A battery, which was fully charged at room temperature, was placed in a cold environment of -20 °C. They compared the battery remaining capacity after running 3 Urban Dynamometer Driving Schedule (UDDS) cycles with four scenarios where the preheating operations with different extents were performed in advance. Their experimental results indicated that a battery can maintain greater discharge capacity if the surrounding air is heated to room temperature level before start-up since battery internal resistance decreases when the cell is heated. The greater rated capacity also suggests a greater driving range of EV in cold climate.

For actual vehicle applications, air heating can be achieved by using control components and the heating ventilation and air condition (HVAC) system in EV to form the heating circuit. Chen et al. proposed a heating strategy by using external power [62]. The system consists of traction batteries, battery control unit (BCU), charger module (CHM), a direct current-to-direct current (DC/DC) converter, a positive temperature coefficient (PTC) heater in the HVAC system, a host-positive relay, and a host-negative relay. At low temperatures, when EV is connected to the charging pile, the CHM outside the battery pack can supply power to the PTC heater. A fuzzy controller was designed to restrict the maximum charging power of CHM to avoid exacerbated battery aging. The batteries can be then warmed up to a chargeable temperature by the HVAC system through ventilating warm air to the pack.

In the battery preheating system, heating efficiency plays a crucial role in determining the heating performance. Higher heating efficiency denotes potentially less energy consumption, shorter preheating duration, and lower system operational cost during the warm-up process. To evaluate the instant heating efficiency of the preheating system, the percentage of the consumed power used for the warm-up process is calculated. For battery-powered heating systems, the heating efficiency can be obtained using the formula below [28]:

$$\eta = \frac{c_{pC}m_C dT_C/dt}{\dot{q}_C + P_{out}} \tag{1}$$

where c_{pC} is the specific heat of the cell, m_C is the mass of the cell, T_C is the cell temperature, t is the time, the denominator represents the consumed battery power (\dot{q}_C is the internal heat generation rate of the cell, and P_{out} is the output power of the cell). When the heating elements in BTMS are powered by the external power source such as a charging stand, the heating efficiency can

be calculated as follows:

$$\eta = \frac{c_{pC}m_{C}dT_{C}/dt}{P_{in}}$$
(2)

in which P_{in} represents the input power to the battery heating system from the external power source.

The air heating system can be treated as a warm-up module integrated into vehicle powertrain to change the energy management strategy (EMS) of EV in a cost-optimal way and comprehensively improve vehicle performance at low temperatures. In EMS, system operating cost typically consists of battery degradation cost, electricity cost (only in BEVs and PHEV) and fuel cost (only in HEV and PHEV), which are calculated as equivalent economic cost in several driving cycles considering the cost of replacing the battery pack, charging the battery using grid electricity and the fuel consumption. Exacerbated battery degradation in cold weather would inevitably increase the EV operating cost since the cost of battery replacement in EV is usually expensive and, thus, preheating the battery before operation becomes beneficial to the cost reduction of EV. Song et al. [63] analyzed the possible benefits which could be brought from battery heating operation in a hybrid energy storage system (HESS) of BEVs at low temperatures. The HESS consists of batteries and supercapacitors (SC). The configuration of HESS with the air heating module is schematically shown in Fig. 8(a), with the average heating efficiency of 75%. An online EMS for the HESS was proposed and the minimum system operating cost (the sum of electricity and battery degradation costs) could be obtained by applying the dynamic programming (DP) approach. They found that heating the battery pack before vehicle operation can decrease the system operational cost by up to 12.49% when the battery price is 400 \$/KWh and a more remarkable cost reduction could be achieved if the battery price is higher. Meanwhile, they pointed out that the reduction of system operational costs brought by battery-powered heating operations is trivial but this benefit becomes more significant if the preheating process can be powered by an external source such as a charger. This is due to the fact that only a small heating power is required for maintaining battery temperature once the battery has been warmed up. In PHEVs, to calculate the operating cost, battery degradation cost, electricity cost, and fuel cost need to be considered simultaneously. Wang et al. [64] surveyed the potential economic benefits of preheating battery pack in a PHEV by air heating strategy in the pow-



Fig. 8. Configuration of different EV powertrain incorporating air heating function: (a) hybrid energy storage system in BEV. Reproduced with permission from [63] (Copyright 2015 Elsevier). (b) power system of PHEV. Reproduced with permission from [64] (Copyright 2018 Elsevier).

ertrain, with the system configuration illustrated in Fig. 8(b). They pointed out that when the ambient temperature was -20 °C, the preheating strategy could limit the operating cost by up to 22.3% in 40 driving cycles, compared to the case without a preheating process. Specifically, they also investigated the economy of preheating strategies with the choices of power from an engine and the grid with the conclusion that battery preheating powered by electricity is much more economical than using fuel.

To summarize, preheating batteries using air as the heat transfer medium presents advantages such as low system cost, small complexity addition, and high reliability, making this heating method easy to be implemented based on the original air management system. The weight increase is also small since the weight of the heater and the fan are trivial. However, the limited heat transfer coefficient of air hampers the heat transfer of the air preheating system. This makes the heating difficult for large-format automotive Li-ion batteries due to longer heat transfer distance from the cell surface to its interior, causing notable thermal gradients inside the cell. Moreover, this could also cause severe cell-to-cell temperature variation in a module/pack. The heating efficiency reported in [28] ranges between 0.6 and 0.8 throughout the heating process. However, in real applications, this actual efficiency range could be lower than 0.6-0.8 due to imperfect thermal isolation of the system, unsatisfactory electrothermal conversion of the heater, and lower-than-expected heat transfer coefficient, which results in prolonged heating duration, increased energy consumption as well as exacerbated temperature uniformity. Efforts can be made to enhance the heating efficiency by optimizing the geometric structure of the airflow channel, changing the flowing pattern of warm air (laminar flow or turbulent flow) as well as ameliorating the cell arrangement in a battery module/pack. Furthermore, considering the safety of the heating system, the current rate in battery-powered heating operation should be limited to prevent over-discharge of the battery at the beginning of warm-up. Also, the temperature of the air and heater need to be controlled below a threshold value to avoid potential fire risks.

4.1.2. Liquid heating

Compared with air, liquid exhibits a greater heat transfer coefficient so that better cell-to-cell temperature consistency could be achieved. Therefore, liquid is also widely adopted as the heat transfer medium in BTMS of EV. There are two ways that batteries can be heated with liquid, i.e., by immersing the batteries in direct contact with dielectric fluid or by placing jackets/plates containing liquid channels inside the battery pack [57]. For the latter case, the commonly used liquid includes water, oil, glycol, acetone, or mixed solution (e.g., water-glycol).

Luo et al. designed a liquid heating system for a battery pack consisting of 16 prismatic Li-ion cells with a capacity of 37 Ah [65]. The whole battery pack was immersed in a closed system filled with dielectric transformer oil. Fig. 9 illustrates the structure of the heating system. The electric heating film powered by the external power source can heat the transformer oil when the battery temperature is below 0 °C. The battery pack can be heated from -30 °C and -10 °C to 0 °C in 35 min and 12 min, respectively. Through circulating the oil in this liquid heating system, the cell-to-cell temperature difference can be controlled within 3 °C. For safety concerns, the maximum temperature of the electric heating film should be far below the flashpoint of the dielectric oil to avoid the risk of fire, and the flammability of the oil needs to be considered when choosing this liquid heat transfer medium.

Compared with direct-contact liquid heating, indirect-contact heating using jacket/plate can significantly reduce the space needed for preheating systems in EV, though the walls of the heating jacket/plate might increase the thermal resistance. Yuan et al. [66] designed a battery cooling/heating jacket and sandwiched ev-



Fig. 9. Structure of an oil circulation heating system. Adapted from [65].

ery line of batteries with the two cooling/heating jackets in the pack. The heated liquid stream was contained in the jacket and flowed in a U-shaped pipe embedded in the jacket. The effects of pipe diameter, the distance of two adjacent pipes, the inlet liquid velocity, and the inlet coolant temperature were numerically investigated. These factors can be optimized to achieve more uniform and rapid heating. While the liquid flow rate and the temperature can be controlled during the preheating process, the geometry of the internal channels would determine the inherent thermal properties of the heating jacket/plate. Therefore, optimizing the configuration and geometry of liquid channels inside the heating jacket/plate can augment the heat transfer of the jacket/plate and realize uniform heating, which is beneficial to both heating and cooling processes. The improved design of the jacket/plate channel in battery cooling cases, including parallel channel [67,68], serpentine channel [69], and U-shape channel [70], can also be applied to battery warm-up in cold climates by substituting the cold coolant into the heated fluid.

Similar to air heating, liquid heating can also be mounted into EV to optimize the EMS at low temperatures. Zhu et al. [71] added three PTC heaters, which can be powered by the charging pile, to the original pipe-based liquid cooling system of a BEV. The heating liquid, a mixture of glycol and water, is in indirect contact with the battery pack and can be cycled in the loop by a pump. They analyzed the liquid heating operation in the BEV by quantifying the vehicle operating cost, which includes vehicle electricity consumption cost (consisting of preheating energy consumption, charging energy lost, vehicle running energy consumption), and battery fade cost. Their results suggest that the optimal target temperature of preheating increases when the ambient temperature becomes lower but decreases when the vehicle driving range rises since the battery can warm itself during this long-range vehicle operation. Meanwhile, the battery pack can be heated from $-10 \degree$ C to 2 \degree C in 1157s, within the temperature among cells within 3.1 °C.

Enhancing the thermal conductivity of the heat transfer fluid also has great significance in promoting both cooling and heating performance. At low temperatures, a highly conductive heat transfer medium enables the heat to be transferred from the heat sources to batteries more quickly and uniformly, which can efficiently improve the heating efficiency of BTMS. However, the thermal conductivity of traditional heat transfer fluid, such as mineral oil, water, and water/glycol in liquid BTMS, exhibits some limitations [54]. An effective way of improving the thermal conductivity of the heat transfer fluid in BTMS is to add thermally conducting nanoparticles into a base fluid, which could be water, ethylene glycol, or glycol-water mixture [72–75]. The application of such fluid, also called nanofluid, can further improve the cooling and heating performance of BTMS. For example, water-Al₂O₃ nanofluid with a

volume fraction of 4% was utilized by Huo et al. for the cooling of 5 cylindrical batteries connected in series [74], in which the average cell temperature can be decreased by 7% compared to pure water-based BTMS. Sefidan et al. [76] submerged each 18650 cell in the battery pack into a thin cylindrical tank containing water-Al₂O₃ nanofluid and observed improved temperature uniformity of the pack. Besides Al₂O₃, carbon nanotubes (CNT), with high thermal conductivity, large specific surface area, and low specific gravity, can also be added to the base fluid to enhance the thermal conductivity of the nanofluid in BTMS [77]. Other nanofluids containing metallic (Cu) nanoparticles, metallic oxide (CuO, TiO₂), and nonmetallic oxide (SiO₂) can also be seen in the current literature [78-82]. The application of these nanofluids in BTMS is limited so far, but the mature technologies in other areas such as engine cooling using nanofluids may give some reference to the thermal management of automotive batteries. Other properties of the liquid, such as viscosity, density, and specific heat capacity, could also affect the heat transfer rate between the wall of the battery module and heat transfer fluid. Viscous fluid, such as mineral oil, tends to have a lower flow rate during the circulation in a BTMS under a certain pumping power [83]. Therefore, it is likely to have a thicker boundary layer compared with less viscous fluid (e.g. water/glycol) flowing with a higher flow rate, leading to a lower heat transfer coefficient, especially in a narrow channel.

To summarize, liquid has better thermal conductivity and a higher convective heat transfer rate. Both oil and water have nearly three times larger heat transfer coefficients than air [83]. Thus the nanofluid would be much more thermally conductive compared to air. As such, the liquid-based preheating system is able to achieve better temperature uniformity in the battery pack, with cell temperature inconsistency around 3 °C even using conventional heat transfer fluid. Therefore, for the warm-up of large-format Li-ion batteries, heating with liquid is more suitable than heating with air due to the superior thermal attributes of liquid. Weaknesses of liquid heating strategies also exist. Larger specific heat capacity of liquid requires more energy to warm up the heat transfer fluid at the beginning of heating, and this would probably drain the battery energy in a battery-powered heating situation in cold climates. Compared with air, liquid has much larger density, and thus, adding too much liquid in BTMS would bring much weight increase, especially in the direct-contact liquid heating case. In addition, liquid heating systems need careful (and therefore complex) seal design and operation, e.g., to avoid leakage, in contrast to air counterparts, which inevitably increases the number of control units as well as the system complexity. Despite this, the liquid management system is still widely adopted in commercial EVs with high safety and reliability due to its technical maturity.

4.1.3. Heat pump heating

A heat pump is a device that can achieve efficient heating through the reversed Carnot cycle. It absorbs heat from the surrounding environment and releases it to the area to be heated. The coefficient of performance (COP) of the heat pump is defined as the ratio of the amount of heat provided to the required work. The COP is typically greater than 1, which means that heat pumps consume less energy than electric heaters when providing the same amount of heat. Therefore, the application of heat pumps in thermal management systems of EVs may reduce the battery energy consumption for cabin heating and battery warm-up in cold climate. Recently, Bosch used heat pumps in EV to capture the waste heat from electric motors and power electronics, and use it to warm up the vehicle cabin and keep the battery at around 35 °C, which can extend the vehicle driving range by 25% [84]. Lee et al. applied a heat pump in an electric bus to capture the waste heat generated by electric devices and reuse it to heat the bus cabin [85]. Results showed that the COP value of the heat pump can reach 2.4 when the ambient temperature was 10 °C. However, the heat pump using a single heat source does not work efficiently under the cold condition such as -10 °C ambient temperature, and the COP value is close to 1 (at 0 °C, the COP value could range between 2 and 3 for a heat pump with single heat source) [86], which means heat pumps become less advantageous compared to electric heaters. The heating performance can be improved by utilizing the heat from multiple heat sources such as air and waste heat in EV, and the COP value could be increased to higher than 2 at -10 °C [86].

To summarize, heat pumps can typically achieve higher heating efficiency than electric heaters with high safety and reliability when the same amount of battery energy is consumed. However, the low-temperature extreme poses challenges to the heating performance of heat pumps, which requires the investigation and improvement of heat pump heating technology at extremely low temperatures such as $-20 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ [87]. Besides, the addition of condenser, evaporator, compressor, refrigerant, as well as plenty of control components to EV, would significantly increase the cost, weight, and complexity of this heating system. Despite the relatively mature technology of heat pumps in the integrated thermal management of EV, their applications in warming up batteries have seldom been investigated.

4.2. Conductive heating

In conductive heating, the heat-source elements are placed in direct contact with Li-ion cells or modules. Therefore, the heat generated by the heating elements can be conducted to battery cells and warm them up directly, reducing the amount of heat loss on the heat transfer path. Conductive heating mainly includes resistance heating, Peltier-effect heating, heat pipes, burner heating, and PCM heating.

4.2.1. Resistance heating

By placing the electric heaters or heating plates containing electric heating wires at the surface of battery cells, the heat produced by the heater can be transferred to the cells in a straightforward manner with significantly reduced heat transfer distance compared to convective heating and, thus, the heat loss to the ambient environment can be accordingly reduced. The most commonly applied electric heaters in BTMS include PTC heater and metal resistance (MR) heater, which could be powered by either the battery or external power source.

PTC material is a temperature-sensitive semiconducting resistive material. The resistance of PTC heater increases significantly when its temperature exceeds the designed temperature threshold so that the current flowing through the PTC heater can be regulated by itself, and the temperature of the heater can be maintained to a certain level [88,89]. Therefore, using PTC heaters with an appropriate temperature threshold to heat battery cells can prevent battery cells from overheating. Typically, PTC resistance wires are inserted into or twined around the aluminum plates, and these plates are placed between every adjacent cell pairs in a prismatic battery pack. The heat generated by inserted PTC wires can be distributed evenly on the aluminum plate due to the plate conduction and then warms up the adjacent battery cells uniformly from low temperatures. For example, a battery module (consisting of 3 LiMn₂O₄ prismatic battery cells with a nominal capacity of 35 Ah for each cell and sandwiched by 4 aluminum heating plates) can be heated from $-40 \,^{\circ}$ C to $0 \,^{\circ}$ C in 25 min, when PTC heaters were under an external power source delivering the heating power of 35 W [90]. PTC heating can also be powered by the battery itself, and in this battery-powered heating case, the heat generated inside the battery cells and the energy consumption of warm-up should be considered. A schematic diagram of



Fig. 10. Schematic diagram of a battery-powered positive temperature coefficient heating system. Adapted with permission from [91] (Copyright 2016 Elsevier).

the battery-powered PTC heating at the pack level is shown in Fig. 10. The aluminum plates with embedded PTC resistance were also placed between adjacent cell pairs. Jin et al. conducted experiments on this battery-powered PTC heating in a prismatic battery pack [91,92]. Results show that when the pack is at 100% initial state of charge (SOC), the batteries can be heated from $-19.3 \,^{\circ}$ C to $-2.4 \,^{\circ}$ C in 48 min, with temperature difference among cells less than 3.506 °C. This battery-powered heating process consumes approximately 13% of the total pack energy. Besides, the pack with lower initial SOC value was observed to have longer preheating duration [92].

Besides PTC, MR materials are also adopted as heat generation elements in electric heaters. Wide-line metal film, which adopts copper wire to generate heat, can also be applied in BTMS to heat the batteries [93]. Similar to PTC heating, by placing wide-line metal films on the two largest surfaces of prismatic battery cells, a battery pack could be heated. Experimental results show that under 90 W heating power, the battery pack can be heated from $-40 \,^{\circ}$ C to restore 80% of the room-temperature discharge capacity in 15 min [93].

The placement of the electric heater in a battery pack also has an impact on heating performance due to the geometric effect of cells. Zhang et al. [94] compared the case of placing heaters at the side surface of prismatic battery cells with the case of placing the heater at the bottom of a battery pack. With the same energy consumption, the side-heating method enabled a battery system to have a higher temperature rise and better temperature uniformity compared to the bottom-heating method.

In resistance heating, the heating effect also relies on the properties of the electric heater. Factors such as heat capacity, electrothermal response, electro-thermal conversion capability, and temperature distribution during heating, can affect the heating performance of the electric heater. Film-based panel heaters, which are developed based on CNT, exhibit low weight, low thermal capacity, uniform heating, and quick electro-thermal response time [95]. Therefore, with these attributes, film-based heaters have great potentials in reducing energy consumption and heating time during battery warm-up. Besides, compared with those relatively bulky conventional electric heaters, the small thickness of these filmbased heaters enables a reduction of installation space in a battery pack. Generally, film-based heaters with high heating performance can be classified into several categories: (a) Pure CNT-based heaters, including single-walled [96,97], double-walled [98,99], and multi-walled [100,101]; (b) Metallic nanowire-based heaters

[102,103]; (c) Composite film heaters which combine CNT with organic materials [104], metallic nanowires [104], or particles [105]. These film-based panel heaters usually present better heating performance than traditional heaters under a relatively low voltage excitation. Therefore, the technology maturity of these film-based panel heaters may give rise to their applications in battery thermal management in cold weather so that the heating efficiency can be improved without adding too much complexity (control components needed and extra weight or space addition) to BTMS.

To sum up, the straightforward heat conduction of resistance heating enables a shorter heat transfer route and reduced heat loss to the ambient environment. Hence, high heating efficiency, short heating time, and low energy consumption can be achieved. However, this preheating strategy also exhibits limitations. First, the application of this warm-up technique is highly dependent on the geometry of battery cells. For prismatic batteries, the flat and large side surfaces guarantee good contact between the electric heating panel and the cell in a module/pack. However, for the cylindrical battery, the cell geometry does not allow perfect contact between the cell surface and the heater, which inevitably reduces the effective heating area and limits the heating efficiency. Therefore, resistance heating is more preferable in a battery module/pack consisting of prismatic cells. In addition, for large-format Li-ion batteries, increased cell thickness renders larger temperature gradients in a cell due to massive and quick heat accumulation at the surface of the cells as well as prolonged heat conduction from the cell surface to the core. Moreover, massive integration of cells in a battery pack typically requires plenty of electric heaters, and the installation of these heaters could take up some space and add much weight, especially when these heaters are relatively bulky. Since resistance heating is a direct-contact heating method, for safety concerns, the power of heating and the temperature of the heaters have to be limited to prevent the local overheating within the battery module/pack.

4.2.2. Peltier-effect heating

The Peltier effect describes a heating/cooling phenomenon at the interface between two different conductors when current flows through them. The direction of the heat flow can be switched by changing the direction of the current [106]. Peltier effectbased devices have been designed and applied to thermal management of EV with high reliability and lightweight [107-110]. Alaoui et al. [108,110] presented a thermal management system based on Peltier-effect thermoelectric devices to warm up automotive batteries at low temperatures. The basic thermal management unit in the system is shown in Fig. 11(a), consisting of 12 Peltier-effect units sandwiched between two heat sinks. Three similar units were designed for the thermal management of the front battery compartment, the rear battery compartment, and the passenger compartment, as shown in Fig. 11(b). The temperature in the thermal management system could be regulated by a thermoelectric controller by adjusting the current flowing through the unit. A hose system can distribute the heated air to different compartments. The placement of thermal units in the vehicle is shown in Fig. 11(c). Experimental results indicate that the front battery compartment and the rear battery compartment can be heated from 17 °C to 37 °C and 29 °C within 20 min, respectively. The temperature difference between the front battery compartment and the rear battery compartment is due to heat dissipation from the hose system to the ambient. Besides, this warm-up process consumed 2.5% initial capacity of the battery pack.

The Peltier effect-based device can also be applied in direct contact with the battery module in BTMS to realize heating, even though in the current literature this thermal management system has been primarily used to cool the battery [111,112]. The temperature at the hot side of Peltier effect-based device can reach above



Fig. 11. Structure and distribution of the Peltier-effect thermal management system. Reproduced with permission from [108] (Copyright 2005 IEEE): (a) basic thermal management unit, (b) block diagram of the thermal management system, and (c) placement of thermal units and battery boxes in the vehicle.



Fig. 12. Battery thermal management using copper-water heat pipes. Reproduced with permission from [113] (Copyright 2014 Elsevier).

 $40 \circ C$ [111] so that the same system can also be used for battery preheating at low temperatures by changing the direction of current flow.

To summarize, Peltier-effect heating can achieve battery heating safely and reliably with easy implementation of the Peltier-effect device. Nevertheless, the highest COP value reported in [108] is 1.036 when the ambient temperature is 17 °C, which suggests that the heating performance of this Peltier-effect based thermal management system is close to resistance heating (COP is approximate to 1). Therefore, the designed thermal management system in [108] may not work as efficiently as resistance heating does in cold climates, especially when the ambient temperature drops below 0 °C. This could result in increased battery energy consumption and prolonged preheating duration. Moreover, researches on heating batteries in direct contact with Peltier-effect devices are limited, and thus, further investigations are needed in the future.

4.2.3. Heat pipe heating

A heat pipe is an efficient thermal element for heat transfer that can be used in battery thermal management for both highand low-temperature conditions. It takes advantage of evaporation and condensation of the internal fluid when circulating inside the heat pipe to transfer heat between two ends in a spontaneous way. Wang et al. [113] designed a thermal management system based on heat pipes to realize both cooling and heating functions, as shown in Fig. 12. L-shaped heat pipes were inserted into the cavity between adjacent pairs of battery cells, with one end each attached to an aluminum plate. A liquid box with an inlet and an outlet was placed underneath the battery module, in which the other end of each L-shaped heat pipe was immersed in the fluid. At low temperatures, the hot fluid flowing through the liquid box was capable of providing the heat to warm up the batteries. The heat from the hot fluid could be transferred quickly along the heat pipes and distributed uniformly on the aluminum plate so that the battery was able to be heated. Results illustrated that, by using 20 °C hot fluid, cells can be heated from $-15 \,^{\circ}$ C and $-20 \,^{\circ}$ C to $0 \,^{\circ}$ C in 1200s and 1500s, respectively. While, by using 40 °C hot fluid, the cells can be heated from $-15 \,^{\circ}$ C and $-20 \,^{\circ}$ C to $0 \,^{\circ}$ C in 300 s and 500 s, respectively.

Micro heat pipe array (MHPA), a novel heat pipe structure with high thermal conductivity, can also be applied to improve the heating performance, as shown in Fig. 13(a). Each micro heat pipe in the MHPA runs independently, and multiple pipes working simultaneously can greatly enhance heat conduction [114,115]. Ye et al. [48] applied an MHPA for battery heating at low temperatures. In the designed thermal management system, the evaporator section of the MHPA was placed at the cell surface between every two adjacent batteries, while the condenser section was exposed to air. A heating plate was placed on the evaporator section of the MHPA so that the heat could be transferred to the battery through the MHPA, as shown in Fig. 13(b). The configuration of the MHPA in a



Fig. 13. MHPA in battery heating at low temperature. Reproduced with permission from [48] (Copyright 2017 John Wiley and Sons): (a) photograph of MHPAs; (b) a local structure of thermal management system; and (c) configuration of MHPA in a battery module.

battery module is displayed in Fig. 13(c), where the average temperature variation of batteries 1-4 during the preheating process was recorded to approximate the temperature of the battery mod-

ule. Under a heating power of 30 W, the battery could be heated from -10 °C, -20 °C, and -30 °C to 0 °C in approximately 350 s, 780 s, and 1100s, respectively.

At the system level, Zou et al. [116] presented an integrated thermal management system for a five-chair EV, including a heat pipe-based subsystem for battery temperature management and a heat pump air conditioning system for cabin heating. The whole thermal management system can be used for both heating and cooling purposes of the battery as well as cabin, as shown in Fig. 14. In a preheating mode, the refrigerant valve RV1 and RV4 were closed while RV2 and RV3 were open. The expansion valves EXV2 and EXV3 could adjust the refrigerant flow rate of the cabin evaporator and battery chiller. The air heated by the heat pump can warm the cabin while the coolant heated by a PTC heater can provide heat for the battery pack through heat pipes. Experimental results showed that the COP for cabin heating could reach 1.34 when the ambient and in-car temperature was -20 °C and 20 °C, respectively. The battery pack could be heated from -20 °C to 0 °C in less than 900s during the warm-up process.

To summarize, heat pipes, with excellent heat transfer performance, enable the heat from the heat source to be transferred quickly to batteries. Therefore, the battery warm-up time from $-20 \,^{\circ}$ C to $0 \,^{\circ}$ C can be usually controlled within 15 min in the aforementioned researches. In addition, the lightweight, low cost, and mature technology of the heat pipes allow them to have great potential in battery heating with high safety and reliability. How-



Fig. 14. Schematic of an integrated thermal management system with a heat pipe preheating sub-system for batteries. Reproduced with permission from [116] (Copyright 2016 Elsevier).



Fig. 15. A new combustion-based heating system. Adapted with permission from [117] (Copyright 2017 Elsevier).

ever, the applications of heat pipes are dependent on the cell geometry since flat cell surface could ensure better surface contact. Moreover, temperature difference may exist along the heat conduction direction of the heat pipe, especially when the heating power is high, which contributes to thermal gradients inside the battery pack.

4.2.4. Burner heating

In order to avoid the battery energy consumption during heating operations in EV, especially when cabin heating is involved, researchers have proposed some heating strategies by making use of other energy sources. Cho et al. [117] presented an integrated heating system for the thermal management of both the cabin and the battery in EV in cold climate based on a burner, as shown in Fig. 15. Fuel combustion in the burner can generate an adequate amount of heat, which could be brought out by exhaust gas. The flow controller, a variable throttle, can control the flow of the exhaust gas to the air heat exchanger (AHE), the coolant heat exchanger (CHE), or both of them. The AHE can deliver the heat from exhausted gas to the cold air in the vehicle cabin and realize cabin heating. The CHE, with its working fluid heated by hot exhaust gas, can warm up the battery pack. Later, Seo et al. [118] systematically investigated the heat transfer characteristics of this integrated heating system by considering factors such as heat exchanger effectiveness, heat transfer rate, temperature distribution, and fluid flow characteristics. Their simulation results validated the effectiveness of this heating system.

To sum up, this heating method can realize efficient cabin and battery heating without depleting the battery energy through fuel combustion in a burner. However, incorporating such an independent heating system to EV would significantly take up space and increase the cost, weight as well as complexity. Besides, the application of this heating system in BEVs is unrealistic due to the lack of fuel tank in BEVs as well as the great complexity addition. Additionally, for safety concerns, incorporating a burner in the heating system would bring potential fire risks to vehicles if the system is not well designed.

4.2.5. PCM heating

PCM can absorb and release a certain amount of heat through melting or solidifying at a specific temperature. They are essentially a thermal energy storage device, which can be used management battery temperature in BTMS. The melting process can be applied for heat absorption at elevated temperatures, while the heat released by the solidification process can be used for low-temperature heating. The cooling applications of PCM in battery systems have been reviewed in [119,120]. For low-temperature case, a PCM is able to prevent the battery temperature from dropping significantly when the ambient temperature suddenly decreases. By rejecting its latent heat to battery cells during the solidification process, a battery module can be heated, and its temperature can be maintained for some time [121]. As a passive thermal management strategy, using PCM to heat batteries can eliminate the need for adding extra control components in BTMS since the solidification process is merely related to the intrinsic properties of PCM. Moreover, the phase change process of PCM does not consume battery energy so that the warm-up process can be completed without sacrificing the driving miles of EV.

The temperature-retaining capability of PCM at low temperatures was experimentally investigated by Ling et al. [122]. They found that the adopted PCM can keep the battery above 5 °C for about 1 h when it is cooled from 40 °C in a cold environment of -10 °C. They also pointed out that the thermal mass of PCM impedes the battery temperature from rising rapidly in a single discharge after a long-time soak in a cold environment. However, in continuous charge-discharge cycles, the battery with PCM has a higher average temperature than the case without PCM and thus can have better performance.

Zhang et al. [123] devised an active battery heating method based on a phase-change slurry (PCS) cycle. PCS is a microencapsulated PCM combined with a solution such as water or water-glycol, in which the PCM was chosen to have a melting temperature of 10 °C. In a PCS cycle, the PCS absorbs heat in the vehicle cabin with the PCM phase changing from solid to liquid when the cabin is heated by the air conditioner and transports it to the battery container by a pump. Then the PCS releases heat with the PCM phase changing from liquid to solid and warms up the battery, which enables the battery to work at 5-10 °C. However, this heating system is not applicable in the extremely cold environment, such as -30 °C, because of the large heating load. Huo and Rao [124] constructed a lattice Boltzmann model for battery thermal management at low temperatures based on PCM. They found that three factors help to decelerate the solidification process of PCM and preserve battery temperature in cold climates, namely lower thermal conductivity, greater latent heat, and higher environmental temperature. Nevertheless, larger latent heat was pointed out to cause more severe temperature mal-distribution within the cell, which is likely to shorten the life span of the battery.

However, the heat released from the natural solidification process of PCM can only delay battery temperature drop in a cold climate, which is effective in short-term parking cases of EV but may not be applicable in a long-term stop situation. The research of Ghadbeigi et al. shows a tradeoff between keeping the battery temperature and delaying the battery warm-up when applying PCMs to manage battery temperature in a cold environment [125]. Their results indicate that paraffin wax, with low thermal conductivity, is effective in keeping the battery module warm in a short stop (10 min) at -17 °C but could slow the battery warm-up process after a long cold stop (2 h). Paraffin-graphite composite with high thermal conductivity, however, could not even keep the battery temperature during a short stop. Therefore, the net benefits brought by the natural solidification process of PCM depend not only on the stop duration but also on the type of PCM utilized. For such passive thermal management strategies used for short term parking, choosing PCM with appropriate latent heat, melting/solidification temperature and thermal conductivity is critical to the performance of BTMS in frigid weather since the ability of PCM in keeping the battery temperature, eliminating the temperature mal-distribution and facilitating the battery temperature rise after cold stop should be balanced properly.

There are also cases where the temperatures of both battery and PCM are close to ambient temperature after a long-term stop in cold weather so that PCM no longer releases heat to keep the battery temperature. In such cases, a built-in heat source is required to provide adequate heat for the cold start-up of EV. During this warm-up process, PCM acts as a heat transfer medium



Fig. 16. PCM-based preheating system for batteries. Reproduced with permission from [127] (Copyright 2017 Elsevier): (a) a battery module with resistance wire twined around battery cells, and (b) a battery pack consists of battery modules with CPCM perfused in each module.

to heat the battery and would also absorb a certain amount of heat from the built-in heat source for the use of later short cold stop. Rao et al. [126] compared the heating effect of PCM and air on a prismatic cell from -30 °C to 10 °C. When the temperatures of the warm air and the PCM are the same (50 °C), the cold start-up time of air heating is 6.4 times of PCM heating. Zhong et al. [127] designed a preheating system for battery pack based on paraffin/graphite composite phase change material (CPCM) and insulated resistance wires, as shown in Fig. 16. Battery cells in each module were first wrapped with parallel resistance wires, and the remaining space inside each module was filled with CPCM, which can prevent the temperature of resistance wire from being too high. Experimental results validated that a battery module (consisting of 15 cells, 3 cells in series and 5 cells in parallel) can be heated from -25 °C to 10 °C in 473 s, with 4 strips of parallel resistance wires, and in 273 s with 5 strips of wires, consuming 4151 J and 2948 J energy, respectively. He et al. [128] placed two heat sheets at the top and bottom of a CPCM-filled battery module, respectively, to preheat batteries from -15 °C. The heat sheets were powered by the external power source, and their temperature could be controlled. Their experiments proved that setting the temperature of heat sheets to 50 °C is the most energy-saving heating strategy.

The thermal conductivity of PCM plays a fundamental role in their thermal performance for both battery heating and cooling cases. Firstly, it affects the temperature distribution within a battery pack and thus the battery performance. Ling et al. [129] observed a temperature difference of 14.9 °C within a battery pack (consists of 20 2.6 Ah 18650 cylindrical cells) using a low thermal-conductivity PCM when batteries were experiencing charge/discharge cycles at -10 °C and the non-uniform temperature distribution cause a voltage difference up to 0.1 V between battery cells. Moreover, PCM with high thermal conductivity allows the heat to be transferred to the battery more quickly during preheating, which is able to reduce the warm-up time. However, the thermal conductivity of conventional PCM is usually limited. In recent years, adding thermally conductive materials to PCM can remarkably improve their overall thermal performance. These CPCMs are found to have better performance in BTMS compared to traditional PCM [130-137]. Although the current literature mainly focuses on the improved cooling effect on batteries by using these CPCMs, the heating effect at low temperatures can also be enhanced when applying this PCM to battery preheating. In addition to CPCM, there is also a research trend of adding nanomaterials to PCM, to significantly enhance their thermal conductivities. Graphene [138], CNT [139], and metal nanoparticles [140] are commonly used as additives in the PCM to significantly improve thermal conductivities of the PCM.

To summarize, the PCM-based thermal management system can only benefit batteries in a short cold stop by delaying their temperature drop. For a long cold stop, built-in heat sources are needed to provide heat for the battery temperature rise. The required thermal properties of PCMs in these two situations are different or even contradictory. Greater latent heat and lower thermal conductivity contribute to slower temperature decrease in a short stop but may be detrimental in a long cold stop since they would lead to slower warming up rate and severer temperature mal-distribution. As such, a tradeoff needs to be made when designing PCM-based BTMS used for both short-term and long-term parking cases. Besides, since adding PCM would inevitably bring additional weight to BTMS, PCMs with less mass are pursued as long as their thermal properties meet the design requirement. In addition, the safety and reliability of the coupled heating system combing PCM and heating elements could be higher than the system with pure heating elements since the addition of PCM can prevent overheating in the battery pack.

4.3. Summary of external heating strategies

The external heating strategies are summarized in Table 1, with some selected cases as the representation of each heating strategy. The preheating systems are contrasted in detail by applying the performance metrics of heating.

Typically, external heating methods need specially designed BTMS to transfer the heat from external heat sources to battery cells during the preheating process, where factors such as the heat transfer patterns and routes, the geometry and layout of the battery cells, the properties of heat transfer media could affect the heating performance. Conventional BTMS, such as air and liquid systems, are economical for commercial applications with high safety and reliability. However, the low heat transfer rate and low heating efficiency are the main challenges in external heating, leading to a prolonged warm-up duration and increased energy consumption, especially when heating large-format Li-ion cells. Moreover, temperature difference within the battery cell and module/pack, affected by the cell geometry, the placement of heating elements, and the thermal conductivity of heat transfer medium, is another critical issue in conventional BTMS.

Efforts can be made in the future to solve the aforementioned problems by enhancing heating efficiency in external preheating systems. Specifically, in convective heating, increasing the heat transfer rate in BTMS is of great significance, which involves changing the flow manner of heat transfer medium to achieve a higher heat transfer rate, applying novel heat transfer fluid with higher thermal conductivity (e.g. nanofluids), as well as optimizing the geometry of flow channels of the heat transfer medium. For conductive heating, better performance can be achieved through sev-

Summary of external l	heating strategies.										
Preheating strategie:	6	Reference	Cell capacity	Cell geometry	Ambient temperature	Power source of heating	Applied heating power	Cell mass	Cell temperature increase	Heating time	Energy consumption (for heating a single cell)
Convective heating	Air heating	[28]	2.2 Ah	Cylindrical	−20 °C	Battery	23.6 W	44 g	40 °C	85 s	6.40%
	Liquid heating	[65]	37 Ah	Prismatic	−30 °C	External source	I	864 g	30 °C	2100 s	I
Conductive heating	Resistance heating	[06]	35 Ah	Prismatic	40 °C	External source	35 W	1080 g	40 °C	1500 s	17,500 J
	Peltier-effect heating	[108]	38 Ah	Prismatic	17 °C	Battery	I	I	20 °C (front box);	1200 s	2.5%
									12 °C (rear box)		
	Heat pipe heating	[48]	18 Ah	Prismatic	−30 °C	External source	30 W	I	30 °C	1100 s	2062.5 J
	PCM heating	[127]	1.5 Ah	Cylindrical	−25 °C	External source	162 W	45 g	35 °C	273 s	2948 J
% represents the electi	rical energy consumptic	on in terms of	the percentage of	⁵ battery capacity.							

Table

eral methods: (a) optimizing the arrangement of battery cells to increase the effective contact area; (b) applying novel heating elements with higher heating performance (e.g., film-based panel heaters) or coefficient of performance; (c) increasing the thermal conductivity of the heat conduction medium such as the applications of nano-enhanced PCM. Besides these, better thermal insulation can also help to reduce the heat loss to the ambient environment during the heat transfer process, which can also reduce energy expenses during warm-up.

5. Internal heating

Internal heating typically takes advantage of high battery impedance at low temperatures to generate a large amount of electrochemical heat inside the cells when applying a current. The heat generated through the electrochemical process can directly warm up the electrodes and electrolyte of the battery, without passing through the battery surface from the ambient environment to the cell interior. This strategy can heat the battery cell quickly and homogeneously from its interior with reduced heat loss to the ambient environment. In recent years, a variety of internal heating protocols have been investigated, and this section systematically explains these internal heating techniques.

5.1. Internal self-heating

In internal self-heating strategies, batteries generate heat only through their internal resistances (i.e., ohmic resistance and polarization resistance). Since charging batteries at low temperatures is likely to incur lithium plating, batteries have to consume a proportion of their stored energy to heat themselves internally through discharging [28]. For easy implementation, constant current discharge (CCD) and constant voltage discharge (CVD) are the two common operation protocols. According to a simulation study using ECT coupled model, an 18650 cell of 2.2 Ah can be heated from -20 °C to 15 °C within approximately 420 s using CCD (2C discharge) while it can be heated from -20 °C to 20 °C within approximately 360s using CVD (2.8V discharge) [28]. Higher heat generation rate can be achieved by either improving the discharge current in CCD or lowering the discharge voltage in CVD to remarkably reduce the battery warm-up time. Nevertheless, high current in CCD and low voltage in CVD should be avoided in case the battery voltage drops below the lower cutoff voltage, which leads to over-discharge. Further relationships between the discharge rate, heating time, and power consumption when using CCD were investigated by Wu et al. [141]. Their study found that both the heating time and battery energy consumption decrease exponentially as the discharge rate increases. Their experimental results revealed that, when using CCD, a commercial 18650 Li-ion battery of 2.6 Ah could be heated from $-10 \circ C$ to $5 \circ C$ in 280 s and 1080s under 2C and 1C discharge rates, respectively. The energy consumption of 2C-discharge and 1C-discharge situations accounted for 15% and 30% of the battery rated capacity, respectively. Beside CCD and CVD, the discharge current curve can be optimized according to different heating objectives. Du et al. [142] applied a DP approach to optimize the discharge current in order to find a tradeoff between the heating time and capacity fade. Compared with CCD, to heat the battery from $-10 \,^{\circ}$ C to 5 $^{\circ}$ C, this optimized preheating method using dynamic discharge current could reduce the capacity fade, heating time, and power consumption by 5.56%, 1.82%, and 3.04%, respectively. However, the value of the dynamic discharge current is hard to quantify for real implementation because of the computational burden of the DP algorithm.

Internal self-heating can be combined with other external heating techniques to make full use of the output power of batteries during heating [143,144], sometimes in an energy-optimal fashion [145]. Mohan et al. [145] numerically investigated the optimal discharge current profile in a combined heating strategy to minimize the battery energy consumption, where the battery was heated by both internal heating from the inside and convective air heating from the outside. The optimal current policy was found to be similar to a sequence of constant voltage (CV), constant current (CC) and rest phases. The cell could be heated from $-20 \,^{\circ}$ C to $20 \,^{\circ}$ C within 150 s by using the optimal discharge current. However, the current value is usually uncontrollable in such a battery-powered heating case, making it difficult to be implemented on-board.

To sum up, the internal self-heating strategy typically does not need heating components like external heating and, thus, it has comparably low cost, low complexity and weight addition, high reliability. Low heating efficiency (less than 0.4 for CVD [28]) is the main limitation of the internal self-heating protocol since the battery output power has not been fully utilized to generate heat outside the battery cell, leading to unwanted additional energy consumption during warm-up process. Also, high C-rate operations need to be used carefully to prevent cells from over-discharge as well as avoid accelerated capacity fade, in that the discharge rate has an exponential influence on Li-ion battery aging rate [146,147]. Furthermore, more than 15% battery capacity consumption during warm-up makes this strategy only applicable when battery initial SOC is relatively high. Otherwise, the heating operation is likely to drain the battery energy.

5.2. Mutual pulse heating

Mutual pulse heating takes advantage of the battery and another energy reservoir (e.g. batteries or capacitors) to form an electric circuit and realize the charge/discharge process mutually. The bi-directional current pulses during this process can generate heat inside two energy reservoirs and warm up both of them from subzero temperatures. In [28], the cells in a battery pack are classified into two equal-capacity groups, with one group being charged and the other group being discharged. When a DC-DC converter is added between both groups, the discharge voltage of the cells can be enhanced so that the output power of the discharge group can be utilized as the input power for the charge group. During charging, a certain portion of the output power is capable of generating heat inside the battery due to the existence of internal resistance, while the remaining power is stored in charged cells and will be used for discharging later. The charge/discharge roles of the two battery groups change periodically by using pulse signals so that both groups can be heated by each other and warmed up mutually. Simulation results of two battery cells showed that the cell could be heated from -20 °C to 20 °C within less than 220 s when setting the discharge voltage level to 2.8 V and the pulse intervals to 1 s. This warm-up process only consumed 5% of the battery capacity.

The current profiles in the charge/discharge process can also be optimized to maximize heating efficiency. Mohan et al. [148– 150] optimized the bi-directional current profiles by using the warm-up time and energy consumption as objectives. Instead of using a target temperature as an indicator of terminating a preheating process, they estimated the battery pulse power capability to determine when the heating should be ended. Results showed that the total energy consumption using CVD is 35% more than this pulse current heating method.

For real EV preheating applications, a Li-ion battery heating system was developed by using an inverter and a motor between the battery and a smoothing capacitor [151]. By adding a relay in the system, the insulated-gate bipolar transistors (IGBT) can be controlled to achieve the charging/discharging processes repeatedly to warm up the battery from low-temperature extreme. This method can heat the battery from -20 °C to 0 °C in 5 min and extend the driving range of a PHEV by 13 km.

To sum up, mutual pulse heating makes full use of the charge/discharge processes between the battery and another energy storage device to warm up the battery cells. The output power of the battery and the energy storage device in the heating system has not been wasted compared to internal self-heating so that the energy consumption could be less than 10% of battery capacity, and the warm-up time is usually within 5 min. Moreover, this heating process is highly efficient, with heating efficiency higher than 0.7 even when the DC-DC converter efficiency is only 80% [28]. Nevertheless, some limitations of this heating technique also exist [28]. Mutual pulse heating at high initial SOC levels and using longer pulse intervals are likely to increase the risk of lithium plating, which gives rise to the preference of heating with highfrequency pulses. In addition, the mutual pulse operation needs a complicated circuit and control system, which would increase the number of components as well as the system cost and complexity, particularly in a large-scale integrated battery system.

5.3. Self-Heating lithium-ion battery

In 2016, Wang et al. [34,152] first proposed a novel battery structure by embedding a thin nickel foil with certain electrical resistance as the internal heating element inside the battery to warm up the cell at low temperatures. The structure of this all-climate battery (ACB), also called SHLB, is shown in Fig. 17(a). The nickel foil has two tabs, one of which is welded together with the tabs at the anode, being electrically connected to the negative terminal, while the other extends out from the battery to form a third terminal, the activation terminal (ACT). The working principle of this ACB is illustrated in Fig. 17(b) using electric circuit representation. A switch connecting the ACT with the positive terminal can be controlled according to the cell surface temperature. The switch is left closed only when the battery temperature is low, forcing the current flow through the nickel foil so that large amounts of ohmic heat can be generated to warm the battery internally. Once the target temperature is reached, the heating process is completed, and the switch remains open to make electrons bypass the nickel foil. In this situation, the nickel foil no longer generates heat, and the battery can be charged or discharged as a conventional Li-ion battery with its performance restored.

The activation process allows the temperature of the cell to rise quickly within seconds, which creates favorable electrochemistry inside the battery for charge/discharge as well as restores the cell energy and power capabilities. Results showed that the 7.5 Ah ACB cell can be heated from $-20 \,^{\circ}$ C and $-30 \,^{\circ}$ C to a surface temperature of 0 $^{\circ}$ C in 19.5 s and 29.6 s, consuming 3.8% and 5.5% of cell capacity, respectively [34]. Besides, the available 1C discharge energy of the cell could reach 102 Wh kg⁻¹ after activation at $-40 \,^{\circ}$ C while the cell without nickel foil could only have 0.3 Wh kg⁻¹ and the discharge power after activation at $-30 \,^{\circ}$ C was found to be 5–



Fig. 17. Internal structure of an ACB. Reproduced with permission from [153] (Copyright 2016 Elsevier).



Fig. 18. Internal structure of a multi-sheet SHLB. Reproduced with permission from [155] (Copyright 2016 Elsevier): (a) two-sheet design and (b) three-sheet design; temperature distributions across the cell thickness of (c) single-sheet SHLB, (d) two-sheet SHLB, and (e) three-sheet SHLB.

6 times than the conventional cell at the same temperature [34]. Apart from discharging, pulses of charge and discharge currents can also be utilized during the activation process for lower energy consumption when the external power source is accessible. The ACB cell can be heated from -10 °C, -20 °C, and -30 °C to 10 °C in 54 s, 77 s, and 90 s using pulse activation, respectively, consuming less than 2% battery capacity [152]. The current waveforms and duration can be further optimized for less activation time and energy consumption. Furthermore, Zhang et al. [154] proposed an active control strategy for activation called "battery heating while driving" during driving cycles, without waiting for battery warmup in advance. The control strategy involved heating the battery internally during regenerative braking and rest periods when battery temperature was lower than the pre-set temperature. In the case of braking, the switch was left closed so that the external current from regenerative braking can flow through the nickel foil for heating. During rest periods, the switch still remained closed and the SHLB can discharge through the nickel foil as a reinforced supplement for previous heating. Results showed that the cell could be heated from 0 °C, -10 °C, -20 °C, -30 °C and -40 °C to 10 °C in 13 s, 33 s, 46 s, 56 s and 112 s, respectively.

In SHLB, the majority of heat generation inside the battery comes from the ohmic heat produced by the nickel foil, accounting for 78% on average during the activation process [155]. After such intense heat generation, the temperature uniformity of the cell, which could affect cell performance, is much concerned. Along the in-plane direction, time-sequential images obtained from infrared thermography shows a uniform temperature distribution over the active electrode area during activation but also a hot spot on the ACT as well as a large temperature gradient at the edge [156]. Along the through-plane direction, a large temperature gradient exists from the nickel foil to the outer surface due to insufficient heat transfer. Experimental results showed that when the surface temperature of the cell rose to $0 \,^{\circ}$ C after activation, the temperature of the internal nickel foil could reach up to $30 \,^{\circ}$ C [155]. Such a

large through-plane temperature gradient was pointed out to trigger non-uniform current distribution and even affect heating time and energy consumption [155].

In order to reduce the temperature gradient inside the SHLB, considerable efforts have been made either in cell structure and cell operation. Yang et al. [155] optimized the SHLB structure by adding more nickel sheets to the battery in the through-plane direction, instead of a single foil in the center. The structure of a multi-sheet SHLB is shown in Fig. 18(a) and (b). Results revealed that the local temperature gradient inside the SHLB during the activation process could be greatly reduced by adding more nickel foils, as shown in Fig. 18(c) – (e). The maximum temperature difference inside a three-sheet SHLB could be controlled within 5 °C. In addition, due to cell structure improvement, higher heating efficiency could be achieved, with the activation time reduced by up to 30% and the energy consumption reduced by up to 27%. A detailed comparison of the single-sheet, two-sheet, and three-sheet SHLB in terms of the heating time and the energy consumption is listed in Table 2 for a straightforward reference. Other methods, such as changing the heating protocol of the SHLB, were also reported to reduce the temperature gradient inside SHLB. Lei et al. [157] proposed an intermittent heating method for SHLB at low temperatures. Instead of continuous heating, the Li-ion battery was

Table 2

Comparison of the single-sheet, two-sheet, and three-sheet SHLB schemes in [155].

Structure of SHLB	Activation time (Initial temperature: –20 °C; Target temperature: 0 °C)	Battery capacity consumption
Single-sheet SHLB	27.7s	4.15%
Two-sheet SHLB	20.8s	3.23%
Three-sheet SHLB	19.4s	3.03%

heated by cycles of heating and rest. A three-dimensional finite element model indicated that during 30-second heating at -20 °C, heating for 0.1 s and then rest for 0.3 s can effectively decrease the temperature difference to 2-3 °C, compared to the temperature difference of 10–11 °C in continuous heating case.

Although temperature difference exists inside SHLB during the activation process, the SHLB heating method still exhibits better temperature uniformity than traditional external heating. Lei et al. [158] compared the two-sheet SHLB heating and wide-line metal film heating by using transient three-dimensional heating finite element models. Their results showed that the maximum throughplane temperature difference using wide-line metal films could be three times higher than that using SHLB heating. Besides, they also pointed out that decreasing the heating power and cell thickness can improve temperature uniformity. For large-size Li-ion batteries, the advantage of SHLB heating becomes remarkable. Yang et al. [159] compared conventional external heating strategies, using cell resistance and external electric heater, with the multi-sheet SHLB heating of 40 Ah Li-ion batteries with 34 mm thickness. Results showed that the multi-sheet SHLB heating could achieve more uniform temperature distribution and much less heating time with comparable battery energy consumption in external heating. Moreover, their study also revealed that increasing the heating power in conventional external heating would increase the through-plane temperature gradient and result in local overheating, especially in thick battery cells.

The rapid heating capability of SHLB enables the fast charging with high charge rate after the activation process without lithium plating, which substantially reduces the total time for battery warm-up and charging [152,160]. Yang et al. [160] leveraged the SHLB structure to propose a control strategy that can preheat and charge the cell rapidly. According to the proposed strategy, the cell was warmed up from an extreme low temperature to a lithium plating-free (LPF) temperature, by applying an external power source with constant voltage (slightly lower than cell open-circuit voltage) between the positive and negative terminals of SHLB with the switch keeping closed. Then fast charging could be fulfilled once the temperature of the cell reached the LPF value. They demonstrated that a 9.5 Ah SHLB structure cell can be charged to 80% state of charge (SOC) within 15 min even at -50 °C, through this process. Therefore, the rapid heating and charging capability of SHLB exhibits great potential in counteracting the problems due to low temperatures, facilitating the application of EV in cold geographical regions.

The cycle life of SHLB has been improved since the internal preheating procedure prior to operation can reduce lithium plating in the later charging process. At low temperatures, the degradation of SHLB mainly comes from normal electrochemical cycling, while conventional cells usually suffer from lithium plating so that their capacity decreases drastically during cycling [152]. A well-controlled preheating-charging process can make SHLB withstand 4500 cycles with high-rate (3.5 C) charging current with reported capacity fade less than 20% at 0 °C [160].

To summarize, the rapid heating ability, small energy consumption, extended cycle life, and high charge acceptance make SHLB a paradigm in low-temperature applications of automotive Li-ion batteries. However, disadvantages also exist due to cell structural change. Invasive battery cell structural changes are required, as well as additional controls and switches between battery terminals needed during the operation. This inevitably increases the cost of battery and control complexity, especially for the large-scale integration of SHLBs in EV. Besides, for safety concerns, meticulous operation and precise temperature monitor are essential for the activation process of SHLB to prevent the cell from being over-heated due to the large heat generation rate inside the cell. These two unfavorable factors can reduce the safety and reliability of the BTMS.

5.4. Alternating current heating

AC heating typically applies an AC as the input signal at the battery terminals to generate heat inside the cell. The fast and periodical charging/discharging processes enable the battery to keep its SOC relatively stable. Different from the aforementioned three internal preheating categories, this sort of strategy can be usually achieved without extra battery energy consumption during warm-up by using an external power source. Moreover, AC heating was demonstrated to be one of the most efficient preheating approaches, which can heat the battery quickly and uniformly, compared with external warm-up strategies [57,58]. Among various AC signals, sinusoidal alternating current (SAC) is the most commonly used AC heating, and its current amplitude and frequency can be adjusted for greater heat generation inside the cell.

Hande et al. [161-164] first investigated the feasibility of using 10-20 kHz AC to heat automotive nickel-metal hydride (NiMH) at low temperatures and found that the cells could be heated from subzero temperature to room temperature within 8 min. Ji et al. [28] proposed an AC heating strategy based on the electrochemistry of Li-ion batteries. An ECT coupled model was applied to investigate the characteristics of the warm-up effect by applying AC. Their results showed that using a voltage signal $V(t) = 3.8 - cos(2\pi ft)$, the cell can be heated from -20 °C to 20 °C in 340 s, when the frequency of voltage signal is 0.01 Hz and the cell surface is assumed to be adiabatic. The warm-up duration can be further reduced by increasing the signal frequency, and the associated heating times are 170 s and 80 s with frequencies of 60 Hz and 1000 Hz, respectively. Besides, two frequency regions, namely 0.01-0.1 Hz and 1-1000 Hz, were recommended to reduce the heating time at low temperatures.

The warm-up time of SAC heating is largely dependent on the current parameters such as amplitude and frequency since these two parameters can affect the heat generation rate inside the battery cell. Specifically, the current amplitude can directly affect the heat generation inside the battery cell, while the battery impedance often varies with current frequency and cell temperature [47]. In the current literature, efforts have been made to study the influence of SAC parameters on the preheating effect. Zhang et al. [47] revealed the relationship between SAC parameters and battery warm-up time based on a heat generation model in the frequency domain. The heat generation rate inside the cell was calculated based on current amplitude, current frequency and the impedance of an equivalent electrical circuit (EEC) battery model, which is shown in Fig. 19(a). The effect of SAC parameters on heating effect under different heat transfer conditions was illustrated with contours of heating time, as shown in Fig. 19(b)-(d). They pointed out that the increase of SAC amplitude, the decrease of current frequency, and the improvement of thermal insulation conditions could shorten the preheating time. Furthermore, they also concluded from these contours that the current amplitude has a greater impact on the preheating time than the frequency in lowamplitude and low-frequency range, whereas, in the high range of both parameters, the frequency is more decisive [47].

To shorten battery warm-up time and maximize heat generation inside the battery, the current amplitude and frequency of the applied SAC need to be adjusted to suitable values according to cell temperature. Ruan et al. pointed out that applying SAC with a constant frequency to warm up the battery is much more feasible than using varied frequencies for engineering applications [165]. They investigated the optimal SAC frequency for the maximum heat generation rate during the overall preheating process at different temperatures, based on a reduced electro-thermal coupled (RETC) model [166]. Li et al. [167] concluded from experiments that low-frequency SAC within 100 Hz could heat the battery effectively from low temperatures.



Fig. 19. EEC model used in AC heating and preheating effects with different SAC parameters (time unit: second). Reproduced with permission from [47] (Copyright 2014 Elsevier).

Since regulating the current frequency during the AC heating process is difficult to realize, a mainstream approach to accelerating the temperature rise of Li-ion battery cells is to adjust the current amplitude, once the SAC frequency has been determined. Besides, when the battery temperature is rising, the heat generation rate inside the cell would gradually decline with the decrease of its impedance if the current amplitude remains constant. Therefore, the amplitude of SAC needs to be adjusted during the preheating process. The key issue of this current regulation is to maximize the internal heat generation rate without producing detrimental effects on battery health. Therefore, constraints are usually imposed to restrict the maximum current amplitude to guarantee battery health. Ge et al. [33] adopted lithium plating as the constraint to adjust the current amplitude of SAC and proposed a stepwise preheating method at low temperatures. Through calculating the over-potential at the anode area of a three-electrode Li-ion battery and maintaining it positive, the maximum allowable current amplitude with lithium plating prevention was determined, which was found to increase with the rise of the current frequency as well as the battery temperature. The amplitude of the SAC in each preheating step could be modified according to the battery temperature. Results showed that the 1 Ah pouch cell in the study could be heated from -20 °C to 5 °C within 800 s at a 100 Hz frequency. Ruan et al. used the polarization voltage in the RETC model as the constraint to restrict the maximum current amplitude based on a constant SAC frequency [165]. Their results showed that under the current frequency of 1377 Hz (the optimal frequency for the overall preheating process), the battery can be heated from -15.4 °C to 5.6 °C in 338 s. Guo et al. [46,168] used the battery terminal voltage as the constraint to develop a preheating strategy based on amplitude-variable SAC profiles. The dynamic terminal voltage of the battery, which was described by applying the Butler-Volmer equation, was restricted between the minimum and the maximum voltage limits during the preheating process to prevent the battery from over-discharge and over-charge. The optimal input current amplitude was calculated in a timely manner to maximize the heat generation inside the cell after selecting a suitable frequency. Experimental results showed that a single battery cell could be heated from -20.3 °C to 10.02 °C in 13.7 min while the battery pack with four cells in series could be heated from -20.84 °C to 10 °C in 12.4 min, with SAC frequency of 10 Hz.

Apart from SAC, other AC waveforms such as rectangular wave and step-growth wave were also applied for battery preheating. Zhao et al. [169] excited batteries using current pulses with charge rates 0.75-2 C and discharge rates 3-4 C before CC-CV charging at the subzero environment. The battery could be heated from -10 °C to 3 °C in 10 pulse cycles. Ruan et al. [170] synthesized a step-growth charge current and a constant discharge current, where the duration of charge and discharge process was set to be 4 ms, to internally warm the battery up. Specifically, the amplitude of the charge current had a stair increase; every time the battery temperature increased by 2 °C and the amplitude of the discharge current remained unchanged. This method allowed the battery to achieve an approximately linear temperature rise over time. Results showed that a 35 Ah battery could be heated from -10 °C to 2 °C within 18 min. Zhu et al. [171] compared the effects of current waveforms (sinusoidal and rectangular current profiles) on the temperature change of a 2.3 Ah 18650 battery. For both current profiles (10 A, 30 Hz, and 600 s heating time), the battery can be heated from -24 °C to 7.79 °C using the sinusoidal current, and from -24 °C to 25.6 °C using rectangular current. This result was due to a higher root mean square (RMS) value of the rectangular current profile. Zuniga et al. [172] applied a low-frequency (0.01 Hz) square-wave current to preheat a 100 Ah prismatic cell and compared this strategy with an external heating option, i.e., sandwiching the prismatic cell with two electric heating pads. Given the same heating power of 50 W and heating time of 1800s, although both heating strategies exhibited a similar cell temperature rise (from -20 °C to 14.9-15.9 °C), square-wave current heating could achieve more quick temperature rise of the battery core than that in external heating.

While most AC heating strategies typically require EV to have access to external power sources such as charging stands, there is a trend to develop onboard AC heating method by designing a specific electrical circuit to generate AC without external power supply, which can effectively reduce the inconvenience of AC heating caused by insufficient external power facilities. Jiang et al. [49] designed a soft-switching resonance circuit to generate AC by using battery power. This resonance circuit can generate both AC and direct current so that the superimposed current is able to internally heat a large-size automotive Li-ion battery pack (12 35Ah laminated batteries connected in series) with lithium plating avoidance, in which the current limitations were developed based on a battery EEC model. The whole battery pack could be heated from -20.8 °C to 2.1 °C within 600 s with battery energy consumption of 6.64%. The maximum temperature difference in the pack was less than 1.6 °C during preheating. Shang et al. designed various electric circuits to realize onboard AC heating [173-175]. A periodic ramped discharged current with a certain amplitude and frequency can be generated through the designed circuits and preheat Li-ion batteries from $-20 \,^{\circ}$ C to $0 \,^{\circ}$ C within several minutes, with less than 5% of battery energy consumption.

Although the AC heating process can warm up the Li-ion battery quickly and uniformly from low temperatures, the effect of AC heating on battery aging is still the main concern, yet the related works are limited. AC parameters, especially the current amplitude and frequency, would affect internal electrochemistry of Liion battery and need to be systematically investigated with respect to their effect on the battery aging mechanism. In most works, the current amplitude is the main factor to influence the occurrence of lithium plating during AC heating because it directly affects the anode potential [33,49,165]. The current frequency was found to affect the kinetic and transport process of Li-ion cells [28]. Zhu et al. [171] provided a possible model to explain the effect of AC heating on battery aging. At high frequencies, the charge transfer and the diffusion process are bypassed due to short excitation duration so that lithium plating does not occur, as shown in Fig. 20(a). With the decrease of current frequency, both processes become active, but the intercalated lithium ions during the charging process would de-intercalate during the subsequent discharging period. Thus there is no dead lithium produced, as shown in Fig. 20(b). At low frequencies, when the current amplitude becomes increases, the produced lithium cannot be fully de-lithiated during the prolonged AC excitation period due to complex and nonlinear electrochemical reactions. With some side reactions, the dead lithium could be created, causing irreversible battery capacity loss, as shown in Fig. 20(c).

To experimentally investigate the effect of AC heating on battery aging, most of the literature focuses on short-term degradation by examining the battery capacity after tens of heating cycles [46,47,165]. The capacity tests of the battery showed a slight variation of charge/discharge capacity after AC heating cycles, suggesting no occurrence of apparent battery degradation in the short term [46,165]. The long-term effect of AC heating on battery degradation has not yet been investigated until recently. Guo et al. [176] investigated the aging effect of 210 repeated AC heating cycles (amplitude-varying AC after optimization at a high frequency of 530 Hz) on a three-electrode Li-ion battery at $-20 \,^{\circ}$ C by applying capacity calibration and incremental capacity analysis, which show no detrimental effect on cell health. Zhu et al. [32] systematically explored the effect of AC heating on the battery state of health (SOH) at -25 °C through 240 AC heating cycles. Tests of the battery capacity, DC resistance, electrochemical impedance spectroscopy (EIS), and observations of battery internal morphology after disassembly indicated that irreversible battery damage did not occur after 240 AC heating cycles even with a low frequency (0.5 Hz), as long as the battery voltage limits (3.7 V/2.5 V) were satisfied. Jiang et al. [49] explored the effect of AC on the lifetime of a large-format Li-ion battery pack by repeating 600 heating cycles at -20 °C. Battery consistency variation, capacity loss, and resistance increase were not found to be obvious in such a pack level. So far, AC heating approaches have been validated to be effective and benign to Li-ion batteries at extremely low temperatures, if the current parameters are selected properly.

To sum up, typical AC heating with well-selected current parameters can achieve safe, efficient and reliable heating at low temperatures without consuming battery energy. Besides, the heating circuit is quite simple, which eliminates the addition of extra components and thus has low cost and complexity. Nevertheless, the adoption of AC source during heating requires the EV to have access to external power sources except that the EV has equipped with an onboard AC generation circuit. More importantly, until now, the effect of AC heating on Li-ion battery aging has not been investigated thoroughly from perspectives of the electrochemical mechanism but only been experimentally examined through battery capacity analysis after repeated preheating cycles. Understanding the effect of AC current on battery aging behavior could achieve battery warm-up towards a more efficient and health-conscious way. Furthermore, for module/pack level, the cell resistance inconsistency gives rise to different heat generation rate inside each cell and thus cause a temperature gradient inside the battery module/pack.

5.5. Summary of internal heating strategies

The internal heating strategies are summarized in Table 3, with some selected cases as the representation of each heating strategy. The preheating systems are contrasted in detail by applying the performance metrics of heating.



Particle

Fig. 20. Effect of AC heating on Li-ion battery aging with different current frequencies. Reproduced with permission from [171] (Copyright 2016 John Wiley & Sons).

AC heating at low frequencies and large current

Generally, internal heating strategies heat a battery quickly with low system complexity since heat is generated directly inside the battery, and this process does not need a long heat transfer route compared to external heating. The heating time of these approaches varies from tens to hundreds of seconds, which is shorter than that in most external heating strategies. Among the four types of internal heating methods, only the AC heating uses an external power source in most situations, whereas the others need to consume battery energy. One of the main concerns for internal heating strategies lies in concomitant battery degradation. For internal self-heating and SHLB, since the battery discharges during heating, direct damage such as lithium plating does not happen, but high rate operations will aggravate aging in the long term. For the mutual pulse heating, using a low pulse frequency and heating at a high initial SOC should be circumvented since both of them increase the risk of lithium plating. For the AC heating, the current with a low frequency should be used cautiously with additional limitations (such as voltage bounds) to avoid irreversible damage to the battery. Using a high frequency in AC heating is conducive to reducing battery capacity loss.

6. Remarks and future trends

The ultimate goal of battery warm-up is to restore the battery performance as quickly as possible in cold climates, taking into account energy consumption, resultant battery aging, temperature uniformity, overall cost, system complexity, safety, and reliability. It is highly anticipated that the continual improvements of battery preheating strategies will help EV to handle various climate conditions in different regions over the world. As discussed extensively previously, the various battery preheating strategies exhibit pros and cons. These strategies are qualitatively compared in terms of meeting design requirements (a)-(g), as listed in Table 4.

External heating strategies typically require a customized external thermal management system that considers the cell geometry and arrangement. Their energy consumption, preheating duration, effects on battery aging and temperature uniformity often vary from method to method. Generally, air and liquid management have been primarily adopted in commercial EVs due to their maturity with relatively low cost, high safety, and reliability. Both strategies have excellent compatibility with the off-the-shelf cooling systems, so that slight changes are required to be made to the original system. Heating methods with resistors, heat pipes, and PCM are still in the laboratory stage and need further investigations, even though their heating performance sometimes is better than air and liquid management. Other techniques, such as heat pump heating, Peltier-effect heating, and burner heating, are three possible solutions, but their heating performance still remains to be examined. However, low heating efficiency is the major challenge for external heating, which leads to increased energy consumption and prolonged heating time. Besides, temperature uniformity and weight increase are also inferior, compared to internal heating.

Internal heating techniques typically warm up batteries faster and more uniformly, with other advantages in terms of energy consumption, temperature uniformity, cost, and weight increase. However, all of these heating technologies have not been commercialized due to their immaturity in the battery module/pack level. The internal self-heating can be applied during the driving to maintain the battery temperature, in which the battery output power can be used for the operation of other onboard electronics. Mutual pulse heating can be applied in the presence of an ultra-capacitor to generate current pulses to preheat batteries, but pulse dura-

Table 3

Summary of internal preheating strategies.

Preheating strategies	Reference	Cell capacity	Cell geometry	Ambient temperature	Power source of heating	Heating operation	Cell mass	Cell temperature increase	Heating time	Energy consumption (for heating a single cell)
Internal	[28]	2.2 Ah	Cylindrical	−20 °C	Battery	2.5 V CVD	44 g	40 °C	196 s	18.00%
self-heating	[141]	2.6 Ah	Cylindrical	−10 °C	Battery	2 C CCD	45 g	15 °C	280 s	15.00%
Mutual pulse	[28]	2.2 Ah	Cylindrical	−20 °C	Battery	Discharge voltage: 2.2 V;	44 g	40 °C	80 s	5.00%
heating						Pulse interval: 1 s				
	[148]	2.3 Ah	Cylindrical	−20 °C	Battery	Pulse current with	70 g	32.3 °C	278 s	10.00%
						optimized amplitude				
Self-heating	[155]	10 Ah	Prismatic	−20 °C	Battery	Remains the switch of a	-	20 °C	19.4 s	3.03%
lithium-ion battery						three-sheet SHLB closed				
Alternating current	[33]	1 Ah	Pouch	−20 °C	External source	Current frequency: 100 Hz,	25.6 g	25 °C	800 s	-
heating						Amplitude: varied				
	[46]	3 Ah	Cylindrical	−20.3 °C	External source	Current frequency: 10 Hz,	46 g	30.3 °C	822 s	-
						Amplitude: varied				
	[49]	35 Ah	Prismatic	−20.8 °C	Battery	Alternating current	1010 g	22.9 °C	600 s	6.64%
						combined with direct				
						current				
	[165]	2.9 Ah	Cylindrical	−15.4 °C	External source	Current frequency:	48 g	21 °C	338 s	-
						1377 Hz, Amplitude: varied				

% represents the electrical energy consumption in terms of the percentage of battery capacity.

Table 4

Qualitative comparison of different heating methods.

Preheating strategies		Energy consumption	Preheating duration	Effect on battery aging	Temperature uniformity	Cost	Weight increase	Safety and reliability
External heating	Air heating	***	***	***	*	*	**	***
	Liquid heating	****	****	*	****	*	****	****
	Heat pump heating	**	***	*	***	***	***	****
	Resistance heating	***	***	**	**	**	**	**
	Peltier-effect heating	***	****	*	**	***	***	***
	Heat pipe heating	***	***	*	***	***	**	****
	Burner heating	****	**	*	****	***	***	*
	Phase change material heating	****	***	*	***	***	***	***
Internal heating	Internal self-heating	****	*	**	****	*	*	****
	Mutual pulse heating	*	*	***	****	**	*	**
	Self-heating lithium-ion battery	*	*	*	***	****	*	**
	Alternating current heating	*	**	*	****	*	*	****

tion and amplitude need to be modulated to avoid lithium-plating. SHLB and AC heating could achieve a satisfactory tradeoff in heating performance. However, for SHLB, different battery manufacturing, packaging, and management techniques are required for largescale applications, while for AC heating, insights into the heating management of the large modules/packs are still lacking.

Despite the extensive research progress made so far, how to preheat batteries from subzero temperatures efficiently is still a challenge and remains to be unsolved. Thus the future trends are suggested from the following aspects to encourage more breakthroughs in this research area:

- The heat transfer process in the battery preheating system needs to be comprehensively designed from thermal science perspectives to enhance the heating performance, particularly in external heating. The heat transfer path and patterns are required to be optimized in order to reduce the heat transfer distance, enhance the heat transfer coefficient, and minimize the unwanted heat loss to the ambient environment. Therefore, better thermal insulation, adding more thermally conductive materials (e.g., nanofluids and CPCM), and applying more thermally efficient heating elements (e.g., heat pumps and film-based panel heaters) would also be beneficial to such preheating systems.
- The development of model-based control strategies in BTMS can achieve optimal battery heating for both external and internal heating. Current studies primarily focus on the design of preheating systems and the exploration of novel heating approaches. Although some inherent parameters of such heating systems have been investigated in terms of their effects on heating performance, the control optimality, which helps to achieve better heating performance through heating process controls, has seldom been studied [144,145,148,150]. Nevertheless, model-based preheating control strategies typically require applicable models that are suitable for control and implementation. Therefore, the key challenge is to develop control-orientated battery preheating models with adequate accuracy as well as high computational efficiency, during which precise modeling of battery thermal behavior (at the cell, module, and pack level), system heat transfer characteristics, and system heat generation are necessary.
- The preheating strategies need to be further explored in a battery module/pack level since cell temperature homogeneity in a pack is critical to the overall performance of the battery pack and would affect its aging processes. If there is no heat generation inside the battery pack, namely the battery heating is a pure heat transfer problem, the effect of surrounding-to-cell heat interaction characteristic on the temperature uniformity of the pack can be studied. If heat is generated inside the battery pack, different cell heat generation amounts caused by cell resistance inconsistency could contribute to the thermal gradient inside the pack and, thus, need to be considered.
- The effect of preheating on battery aging remains to be investigated systematically, especially for AC heating. The effect of current parameters such as amplitude and frequency on battery aging needs to be studied from a perspective of electrochemical mechanisms inside a Li-ion battery. Electrochemical models governing the kinetic and transport processes at the anode under an AC signal load can be established to reveal the effects of AC parameters on aging in an explicit manner. In this way, the ultimate current limits in AC heating could be fully explored to boost heating performance without harming the battery, making AC heating a favorable paradigm in battery low-temperature applications.

7. Conclusions

This paper presents the state-of-the-art preheating strategies for automotive Li-ion batteries at subzero temperatures. First, the effect of low temperatures on battery performance and material properties are reviewed briefly. Second, the thermal science involved in battery warm-up, the key design factors for battery heating, as well as the classification of warm-up methods, are elucidated. Two categories of heating approaches, namely external heating, and internal heating, are systematically reviewed in terms of their underlying principle, strengths, weaknesses, and potential improvements. Finally, a qualitative comparison of these heating strategies has been made based on the performance metrics and their technique maturity. Additionally, some important future research trends are also provided.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

References

- BP, BP Energy Outlook 2019 Edition, 2019. https://www.bp.com/ content/dam/bp/business-sites/en/global/corporate/pdfs/energy-economics/ energy-outlook/bp-energy-outlook-2019.pdf. Access date: February 21, 2019.
- [2] Teixeira ACR, Sodré JR. Impacts of replacement of engine powered vehicles by electric vehicles on energy consumption and CO₂ emissions. *Transport Res Part D Transp Environ* 2018;59:375–84.
- [3] Williams JH, DeBenedictis A, Ghanadan R, Mahone A, Moore J, Morrow WR 3rd, et al. The technology path to deep greenhouse gas emissions cuts by 2050: the pivotal role of electricity. *Science* 2012;**335**:53–9.
- [4] Pacala S, Socolow R. Stabilization wedges: solving the climate problem for the next 50 years with current technologies. *Science* 2004;305:968–72.
- [5] Transportation electrification: reducing emissions. Driv Innov 2017.
- [6] Andwari AM, Pesiridis A, Rajoo S, Martinez-Botas R, Esfahanian V. A review of battery electric vehicle technology and readiness levels. *Renew Sust Energ Rev* 2017;78:414–30.
- [7] Liu T, Hu X, Li SE, Cao D. Reinforcement learning optimized look-ahead energy management of a parallel hybrid electric vehicle. *IEEE-ASME Trans Mechatron* 2017;22:1497–507.
- [8] Martinez CM, Hu X, Cao D, Velenis E, Gao B, Wellers M. Energy management in plug-in hybrid electric vehicles: recent progress and a connected vehicles perspective. *IEEE Trans Veh Technol* 2017;66:4534–49.
- [9] Zhang L, Hu X, Wang Z, Sun F, Deng J, Dorrell DG. Multiobjective optimal sizing of hybrid energy storage system for electric vehicles. *IEEE Trans Veh Technol* 2018;67:1027–35.
- [10] Hu X, Zou C, Zhang C, Li Y. Technological developments in batteries: a survey of principal roles, types, and management needs. *IEEE Power Energy Mag* 2017;15:20–31.
- [11] Hu X, Cao D, Egardt B. Condition monitoring in advanced battery management systems: moving horizon estimation using a reduced electrochemical model. *IEEE/ASME Trans Mechatron* 2018;23:167–78.
- [12] Nitta N, Wu F, Lee JT, Yushin G. Li-ion battery materials: present and future. Mater Today 2015;18:252–64.
- [13] Ratnakumar BV, Smart MC, Surampudi S. Effects of sei on the kinetics of lithium intercalation. J Power Sources 2001;97:137–9.
- [14] Senyshyn A, Mühlbauer MJ, Dolotko O, Ehrenberg H. Low-temperature performance of Li-ion batteries: the behavior of lithiated graphite. J Power Sources 2015;282:235–40.
- [15] Zhang SS, Xu K, Jow TR. Low temperature performance of graphite electrode in Li-ion cells. *Electrochim. Acta* 2002;48:241–6.
- [16] Lin H-P, Chua D, Salomon M, Shiao H, Hendrickson M, Plichta E, et al. Low-temperature behavior of Li-ion cells. *Electrochem Solid-State Lett* 2001;4:A71–AA3.
- [17] Zhang SS, Xu K, Jow TR. Charge and discharge characteristics of a commercial LiCoO₂-based 18650 Li-ion battery. J Power Sources 2006;160:1403–9.
- [18] Zhang SS, Xu K, Jow TR. Electrochemical impedance study on the low temperature of Li-ion batteries. *Electrochim Acta* 2004;49:1057–61.
- [19] Jow TR, Delp SA, Allen JL, Jones J-P, Smart MC. Factors limiting Li+charge transfer kinetics in Li-ion batteries. J Electrochem Soc 2018;165:A361–A3A7.
- [20] Li Z, Huang J, Liaw BY, Metzler V, Zhang J. A review of lithium deposition in lithium-ion and lithium metal secondary batteries. J Power Sources 2014;254:168–82.
- [21] Ouyang M, Chu Z, Lu L, Li J, Han X, Feng X, et al. Low temperature aging mechanism identification and lithium deposition in a large format

lithium iron phosphate battery for different charge profiles. J Power Sources 2015;286:309-20.

- [22] Waldmann T, Hogg BI, Wohlfahrt-Mehrens M. Li plating as unwanted side reaction in commercial Li-ion cells – A review. J Power Sources 2018;384:107–24.
- [23] International Energy Agency. Global EV outlook 2019, 2019. https://www.iea. org/publications/reports/globalevoutlook2019/, Access date: August 14, 2019.
- [24] NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information, State of the Climate: Global Climate Report for February 2018, 2018. https://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/ sotc/global/201802. Access date: September 20, 2018.
- [25] Zhu G, Wen K, Lv W, Zhou X, Liang Y, Fei Y, et al. Materials insights into low-temperature performances of lithium-ion batteries. J Power Sources 2015;300:29–40.
- [26] Perez HE, Hu X, Dey S, Moura SJ. Optimal charging of Li-ion batteries with coupled electro-thermal-aging dynamics. *IEEE Trans Veh Technol* 2017;66:7761–70.
- [27] Zhang C, Jiang J, Gao Y, Zhang W, Liu Q, Hu X. Charging optimization in lithium-ion batteries based on temperature rise and charge time. *Appl Energy* 2017;**194**:569–77.
- [28] Ji Y, Wang CY. Heating strategies for Li-ion batteries operated from subzero temperatures. *Electrochim. Acta* 2013;107:664–74.
- [29] Liu H, Wei Z, He W, Zhao J. Thermal issues about Li-ion batteries and recent progress in battery thermal management systems: a review. *Energy Convers Manage* 2017;**150**:304–30.
- [30] Peng X, Chen S, Garg A, Bao N, Panda B. A review of the estimation and heating methods for lithium-ion batteries pack at the cold environment. *Energy Sci Eng* 2019;7:645–62.
- [31] Wang Q, Jiang B, Li B, Yan Y. A critical review of thermal management models and solutions of lithium-ion batteries for the development of pure electric vehicles. *Renew Sustain Energy Rev* 2016;64:106–28.
- [32] Zhu J, Sun Z, Wei X, Dai H, Gu W. Experimental investigations of an AC pulse heating method for vehicular high power lithium-ion batteries at subzero temperatures. J Power Sources 2017;367:145–57.
- [33] Ge H, Huang J, Zhang J, Li Z. Temperature-Adaptive alternating current preheating of lithium-ion batteries with lithium deposition prevention. J Electrochem Soc 2015;163:A290–A2A9.
- [34] Wang CY, Zhang G, Ge S, Xu T, Ji Y, Yang XG, et al. Lithium-ion battery structure that self-heats at low temperatures. *Nature* 2016;529:515–18.
- [35] Ji Y, Zhang Y, Wang C-Y. Li-Ion cell operation at low temperatures. J Electrochem Soc 2013;160:A636–AA49.
- [36] Jaguemont J, Boulon L, Dubé Y, Poudrier D. Low temperature discharge cycle tests for a lithium ion cell. In: 2014 IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference (VPPC). IEEE; 2014. p. 1–6.
- [37] Nagasubramanian G. Electrical characteristics of 18650 li-ion cells at low temperatures. J Appl Electrochem 2001;31:99–104.
- [38] Campbell ID, Marzook M, Marinescu M, Offer GJ. How observable is lithium plating? differential voltage analysis to identify and quantify lithium plating following fast charging of cold lithium-ion batteries. J Electrochem Soc 2019;166:A725–AA39.
- [39] Rodrigues M-TF, Babu G, Gullapalli H, Kalaga K, Sayed FN, Kato K, et al. A materials perspective on Li-ion batteries at extreme temperatures. *Nat Energy* 2017;2.
- [40] Waldmann T, Wilka M, Kasper M, Fleischhammer M, Wohlfahrt-Mehrens M. Temperature dependent ageing mechanisms in lithium-ion batteries–A postmortem study. J Power Sources 2014;262:129–35.
- [41] Gao F, Tang Z. Kinetic behavior of lifepo4/c cathode material for lithium-ion batteries. *Electrochim. Acta* 2008;53:5071–5.
- [42] Zhang SS, Xu K, Jow TR. A new approach toward improved low temperature performance of Li-ion battery. *Electrochem Commun* 2002;4:928–32.
- [43] Goutam S, Nikolian A, Jaguemont J, Smekens J, Omar N, Bossche PVD, et al. Three-dimensional electro-thermal model of Li-ion pouch cell: analysis and comparison of cell design factors and model assumptions. *Appl Therm Eng* 2017;126:796–808.
- [44] Xu M, Zhang Z, Wang X, Jia L, Yang L. A pseudo three-dimensional electrochemical-thermal model of a prismatic LiFePO4 battery during discharge process. *Energy* 2015;80:303–17.
- [45] Fleckenstein M, Bohlen O, Roscher MA, Bäker B. Current density and state of charge inhomogeneities in Li-ion battery cells with LIFePO4 as cathode material due to temperature gradients. J Power Sources 2011;196:4769–78.
- [46] Guo S, Xiong R, Wang K, Sun F. A novel echelon internal heating strategy of cold batteries for all-climate electric vehicles application. *Appl Energy* 2018;219:256–63.
- [47] Zhang J, Ge H, Li Z, Ding Z. Internal heating of lithium-ion batteries using alternating current based on the heat generation model in frequency domain. *J Power Sources* 2015;273:1030–7.
- [48] Ye X, Zhao Y, Quan Z. Thermal management system of lithium-ion battery module based on micro heat pipe array. Int J Energy Res 2018;42: 648–655.
- [49] Jiang J, Ruan H, Sun B, Wang L, Gao W, Zhang W. A low-temperature internal heating strategy without lifetime reduction for large-size automotive lithium-ion battery pack. *Appl Energy* 2018;230:257–66.
- [50] Nelson P, Dees D, Amine K, Henriksen G. Modeling thermal management of lithium-ion PNGV batteries. J Power Sources 2002;110:349–56.
- [51] Chiu KC, Lin CH, Yeh SF, Lin YH, Huang CS, Chen KC. Cycle life analysis of series connected lithium-ion batteries with temperature difference. J Power Sources 2014;263:75–84.

- [52] Yang N, Zhang X, Shang B, Li G. Unbalanced discharging and aging due to temperature differences among the cells in a lithium-ion battery pack with parallel combination. *J Power Sources* 2016;306:733–41.
- [53] Arora S. Selection of thermal management system for modular battery packs of electric vehicles: a review of existing and emerging technologies. J Power Sources 2018;400:621–40.
- [54] Wu W, Wang S, Wu W, Chen K, Hong S, Lai Y. A critical review of battery thermal performance and liquid based battery thermal management. *Energy Convers Manage* 2019;**182**:262–81.
- [55] Tarascon JM, Armand M. Issues and challenges facing rechargeable lithium batteries. *Nature* 2001;**414**:359–67.
- [56] Jaguemont J, Boulon L, Dubé Y. A comprehensive review of lithium-ion batteries used in hybrid and electric vehicles at cold temperatures. *Appl Energy* 2016;164:99–114.
- [57] Pesaran A, Vlahinos A, Stuart T. Cooling and preheating of batteries in hybrid electric vehicles. In: 6th ASME-JSME Thermal Engineering Joint Conference; 2003. p. 1–7. Citeseer.
- [58] Vlahinos A, Pesaran AA. Energy efficient battery heating in cold climates. Future Car CongressArlington, Virginia, USA. SAE International; 2002.
- [59] Ge H. Alternating current preheating and fast charging of lithium-ion batteries with lithium plating prevention at low temperatures [Doctoral dissertation (In Chinese)]. Tsinghua University; 2017.
- [60] Wang F, Zhang J, Wang L. Design of electric air-heated box for batteries in electric vehicles. *Chin J Power Sources (Chin)* 2013;37:1184–7.
- [61] Song H-S, Jeong J-B, Lee B-H, Shin D-H, Kim B-H, Kim T-H, et al. Experimental study on the effects of pre-heating a battery in a low-temperature environment. In: Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference (VPPC), 2012 IEEE. IEEE; 2012. p. 1198–201.
- [62] Chen P, Lu Z, Ji L, Li Y. Design of the control scheme of power battery low temperature charging heating based on the real vehicle applications. In: 2013 IEEE Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference (VPPC). IEEE; 2013. p. 1–6.
- [63] Song Z, Hofmann H, Li J, Hou J, Zhang X, Ouyang M. The optimization of a hybrid energy storage system at subzero temperatures: energy management strategy design and battery heating requirement analysis. *Appl Energy* 2015;159:576–88.
- [64] Wang T, Wu X, Xu S, Hofmann H, Du J, Li J, et al. Performance of plug-in hybrid electric vehicle under low temperature condition and economy analysis of battery pre-heating. *J Power Sources* 2018;401:245–54.
- [65] Luo Y, Lang C, Luo B. Investigation into heating system of lithium-ion battery pack in low-temperature environment. J South China Univ Technol (Nat Sci Chin) 2016;44:100-6.
- [66] Yuan H, Wang L, Wang L. Battery thermal management system with liquid cooling and heating in electric vehicles. J Automot Safety Energy 2012;3:371–80.
- [67] Huo Y, Rao Z, Liu X, Zhao J. Investigation of power battery thermal management by using mini-channel cold plate. *Energy Conversion Management* 2015;89:387–95.
- [68] Zhen Q, Li Y, Rao Z. Thermal performance of lithium-ion battery thermal management system by using mini-channel cooling. *Energy Convers Manag* 2016;126:622–31.
- [69] Jarrett A, Kim IY. Design optimization of electric vehicle battery cooling plates for thermal performance. J Power Sources 2011;196:10359–68.
- [70] Nieto N, Diaz L, Gastelurrutia J, Blanco F, Ramos JC, Rivas A. Novel thermal management system design methodology for power lithium-ion battery. *J Power Sources* 2014;272:291–302.
- [71] Zhu T, Min H, Yu Y, Zhao Z, Xu T, Chen Y, et al. An optimized energy management strategy for preheating vehicle-mounted Li-ion batteries at subzero temperatures. *Energies* 2017;10:243.
- [72] Liu H, Chika E, Zhao J. Investigation into the effectiveness of nanofluids on the mini-channel thermal management for high power lithium ion battery. *Appl Therm Eng* 2018;142:511–23.
- [73] Wu F, Rao Z. The lattice Boltzmann investigation of natural convection for nanofluid based battery thermal management. *Appl Therm Eng* 2017;**115**:659–69.
- [74] Huo Y, Rao Z. The numerical investigation of nanofluid based cylinder battery thermal management using lattice Boltzmann method. Int J Heat Mass Transf 2015;91:374–84.
- [75] Mondal B, Lopez CF, Mukherjee PP. Exploring the efficacy of nanofluids for lithium-ion battery thermal management. Int J Heat Mass Transf 2017;112:779–94.
- [76] Sefidan AM, Sojoudi A, Saha SC. Nanofluid-based cooling of cylindrical lithium-ion battery packs employing forced air flow. Int J Therm Sci 2017;117:44–58.
- [77] Tran L, Lopez J, Lopez J, Uriostegui A, Barrera A, Wiggins N. Li-ion battery cooling system integrates in nano-fluid environment. *Appl Nanosci* 2016;7:25–9.
- [78] Al-Shamani AN, Yazdi MH, Alghoul MA, Abed AM, Ruslan MH, Mat S, et al. Nanofluids for improved efficiency in cooling solar collectors – A review. *Renew Sustain Energy Rev* 2014;38:348–67.
- [79] Che Sidik NA, Witri Mohd Yazid MNA, Mamat R. Recent advancement of nanofluids in engine cooling system. *Renew Sustain Energy Rev* 2017;75:137-44.
- [80] Godson L, Raja B, Mohan Lal D, Wongwises S. Enhancement of heat transfer using nanofluids—An overview. *Renew Sustain Energy Rev* 2010;14:629–41.
- [81] Saidur R, Leong KY, Mohammed HA. A review on applications and challenges of nanofluids. *Renew Sust Energ Rev* 2011;15:1646–68.

- [82] Sidik NAC, Yazid MNAWM, Mamat R. A review on the application of nanofluids in vehicle engine cooling system. Int Commun Heat Mass Transfer 2015;68:85–90.
- [83] Pesaran AA. Battery thermal management in EV and HEVs: issues and solutions. In: Advanced Automotive Battery Conference Las Vegas; 2001. p. 34–49.
- [84] Mark Kane, Bosch to present heat pump that could extend electric car range by 25% in winter, 2015. https://insideevs.com/bosch-presentheat-pump-extend-electric-car-range-25/. Access date: March 25, 2019.
- [85] Lee DY, Cho CW, Won JP, Park YC, Lee MY. Performance characteristics of mobile heat pump for a large passenger electric vehicle. *Appl Therm Eng* 2013;50:660–9.
- [86] Ahn JH, Kang H, Lee HS, Jung HW, Baek C, Kim Y. Heating performance characteristics of a dual source heat pump using air and waste heat in electric vehicles. *Appl Energy* 2014;119:1–9.
- [87] Qin F, Xue Q, Albarracin Velez GM, Zhang G, Zou H, Tian C. Experimental investigation on heating performance of heat pump for electric vehicles at -20 °C ambient temperature. *Energy Convers Manage* 2015;**102**:39–49.
- [88] Kang H, Sim S, Shin Y. A numerical study on the light-weight design of ptc heater for an electric vehicle heating system. *Energies* 2018;11:1276.
- [89] Shin Y, Ahn S, Kim S. Performance characteristics of ptc elements for an electric vehicle heating system. *Energies* 2016;9:813.
- [90] Li J, Wu P, Tian H. Researches on heating low-temperature lithium-ion power battery in electric vehicles. In: *Transportation Electrification Asia-Pacific (ITEC Asia-Pacific)*, 2014 IEEE Conference and Expo. IEEE; 2014, p. 1–6.
- [91] Jin X, Li JQ, Zhang CN, Wu PE. Researches on modeling and experiment of Li-ion battery PTC self-heating in electric vehicles. In: Clean Energy for Clean City: Cue 2016 - Applied Energy Symposium and Forum: Low-Carbon Cities and Urban Energy Systems, 104; 2016. p. 62–7.
- [92] Zhang C, Jin X, Li J. PTC self-heating experiments and thermal modeling of lithium-ion battery pack in electric vehicles. *Energies* 2017;10.
- [93] Lei Z, Zhang C, Li J, Fan G, Lin Z. Preheating method of lithium-ion batteries in an electric vehicle. J Modern Power Syst Clean Energy 2015;3:289–96.
- [94] Zhang J, Sun F, Wang Z. Heating character of a LiMn2O4 battery pack at low temperature based on PTC and metallic resistance material. *Energy Procedia* 2017;105:2131–8.
- [95] Joerg-Dieter Walz, Efficient heating for electric cars, 2015. https://www. fraunhofer.de/en/press/research-news/2015/september/
- efficient-heating-for-electric-cars.html. Access date: March 16, 2018. [96] Kang TJ, Kim T, Seo SM, Park YJ, Kim YH. Thickness-dependent thermal re-
- sistance of a transparent glass heater with a single-walled carbon nanotube coating. *Carbon* 2011;49:1087–93.
 [97] Shobin LR, Manivannan S. Enhancement of electrothermal performance in
- (57) Shohi EK, Mahvahlari S, Ehnarcenent of electronermal performance in single-walled carbon nanotube transparent heaters by room temperature post treatment. Sol Energy Mater Sol Cells 2018;174:469–77.
- [98] Wu ZP, Wang JN. Preparation of large-area double-walled carbon nanotube films and application as film heater. *Physica E* 2009;42:77–81.
- [99] Wu Z, Xu Q, Wang J, Ma J. Preparation of large area double-walled carbon nanotube macro-films with self-cleaning properties. J Mater Sci Technol 2010;26:20-6.
- [100] Jung D, Han M, Lee GS. Flexible transparent conductive heater using multiwalled carbon nanotube sheet. J Vac Sci Technol B, Nanotechnol Microelectron Mater Process Measure Phenom 2014;32.
- [101] Jung D, Kim D, Lee KH, Overzet LJ, Lee GS. Transparent film heaters using multi-walled carbon nanotube sheets. *Sensor Actuat a-Phys* 2013;199: 176–180.
- [102] Celle C, Mayousse C, Moreau E, Basti H, Carella A, Simonato J-P. Highly flexible transparent film heaters based on random networks of silver nanowires. *Nano Res* 2012;5:427–33.
- [103] Kim T, Kim YW, Lee HS, Kim H, Yang WS, Suh KS. Uniformly interconnected silver-nanowire networks for transparent film heaters. *Adv Funct Mater* 2013;23:1250–5.
- [104] Chu K, Kim D, Sohn Y, Lee S, Moon C, Park S. Electrical and thermal properties of carbon-nanotube composite for flexible electric heating-unit applications. *IEEE Electron Device Lett* 2013;34:668–70.
- [105] Im H, Jang EY, Choi A, Kim WJ, Kang TJ, Park YW, et al. Enhancement of heating performance of carbon nanotube sheet with granular metal. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2012;4:2338–42.
- [106] MacDonald D.K.C. Thermoelectricity: an introduction to the principles: courier corporation; 2006.
- [107] Alaoui C, Salameh ZM. Solid state heater cooler: design and evaluation. In: LESCOPE 01 2001 Large Engineering Systems Conference on Power Engineering. IEEE; 2001. p. 139–45.
- [108] Alaoui C, Salameh ZM. A novel thermal management for electric and hybrid vehicles. *IEEE Trans Veh Technol* 2005;**54**:468–76.
- [109] Kras B, Aebi A. Improvement of low temperature performance of SAM EV-II Li-ion battery pack by applying active thermal management based on Peltier elements. In: Proceedings of the 25th World Battery, Hybrid and Fuel Cell Electric Vehicle Symposium, Shenzhen, China; 2010.
- [110] Salameh Z, Alaoui C. Modeling and simulation of a thermal management system for electric vehicles. In: *Industrial Electronics Society*, 2003 IECON'03 The 29th Annual Conference of the IEEE. IEEE; 2003. p. 887–90.
- [111] Li X, Zhong Z, Luo J, Wang Z, Yuan W, Zhang C, et al. Experimental investigation on a thermoelectric cooler for thermal management of a lithium-ion battery module. *Int J Photoenergy* 2019;**2019**.
- [112] Zhang C, Xu K, Li L, Yang M, Gao H, Chen S. Study on a battery thermal management system based on a thermoelectric effect. *Energies* 2018;11.

- [113] Wang Q, Jiang B, Xue QF, Sun HL, Li B, Zou HM, et al. Experimental investigation on EV battery cooling and heating by heat pipes. *Appl Therm Eng* 2015;88:54–60.
- [114] Deng Y, Quan Z, Zhao Y, Wang L. Experimental investigations on the heat transfer characteristics of micro heat pipe array applied to flat plate solar collector. *Sci China Technol Sci* 2013;56:1177–85.
- [115] Zhao Y, Wang H, Diao Y, Wang X, Deng Y. Heat transfer characteristics of flat micro-heat pipe array. *Ciesc J* 2011;2.
- [116] Zou H, Wang W, Zhang G, Qin F, Tian C, Yan Y. Experimental investigation on an integrated thermal management system with heat pipe heat exchanger for electric vehicle. *Energy Convers Manage* 2016;118:88–95.
- [117] Cho C, Kim G, Pyo Y, Lee W. The development of an energy-efficient heating system for electric vehicles. In: *Transportation Electrification Asia-Pacific (ITEC Asia-Pacific)*. IEEE; 2016. p. 883–5.
 [118] Seo J-H, Patil MS, Cho C-P, Lee M-Y. Heat transfer characteristics of the inte-
- [118] Seo J-H, Patil MS, Cho C-P, Lee M-Y. Heat transfer characteristics of the integrated heating system for cabin and battery of an electric vehicle under cold weather conditions. Int J Heat Mass Transf 2018;117:80–94.
- [119] Ianniciello L, Biwolé PH, Achard P. Electric vehicles batteries thermal management systems employing phase change materials. J Power Sources 2018;378:383–403.
- [120] Siddique ARM, Mahmud S, Heyst BV. A comprehensive review on a passive (phase change materials) and an active (thermoelectric cooler) battery thermal management system and their limitations. *J Power Sources* 2018;401:224–37.
- [121] Al Hallaj S, Selman J. A novel thermal management system for electric vehicle batteries using phase-change material. J Electrochem Soc 2000;147:3231–6.
- [122] Ling Z, Wen X, Zhang Z, Fang X, Xu T. Warming-Up effects of phase change materials on lithium-ion batteries operated at low temperatures. *Energy Tech*nol 2016;4:1071–6.
- [123] Zhang X, Kong X, Li G, Li J. Thermodynamic assessment of active cooling/heating methods for lithium-ion batteries of electric vehicles in extreme conditions. *Energy* 2014;64:1092–101.
- [124] Huo Y, Rao Z. Investigation of phase change material based battery thermal management at cold temperature using lattice Boltzmann method. *Energy Convers Manage* 2017;133:204–15.
- [125] Ghadbeigi L, Day B, Lundgren K, Sparks TD. Cold temperature performance of phase change material based battery thermal management systems. *Energy Reports* 2018;4:303–7.
- [126] Rao ZH, Wang SF, Zhang YL. Thermal management with phase change material for a power battery under cold temperatures. *Energy Sources Part a-Recover Util Environ Effects* 2014;36:2287–95.
- [127] Zhong G, Zhang G, Yang X, Li X, Wang Z, Yang C, et al. Researches of composite phase change material cooling/resistance wire preheating coupling system of a designed 18650-type battery module. *Appl Therm Eng* 2017;127:176–83.
- [128] He F, Li X, Zhang G, Zhong G, He J. Experimental investigation of thermal management system for lithium ion batteries module with coupling effect by heat sheets and phase change materials. *Int J Energy Res* 2018;42:3279–88.
- [129] Ling Z, Wen X, Zhang Z, Fang X, Gao X. Thermal management performance of phase change materials with different thermal conductivities for Li-ion battery packs operated at low temperatures. *Energy* 2018;144:977–83.
- [130] Azizi Y, Sadrameli SM. Thermal management of a LiFePO4 battery pack at high temperature environment using a composite of phase change materials and aluminum wire mesh plates. *Energy Convers Manage* 2016;**128**:294–302.
- [131] Babapoor A, Azizi M, Karimi G. Thermal management of a Li-ion battery using carbon fiber-PCM composites. *Appl Therm Eng* 2015;82:281–90.
 [132] Jiang G, Huang J, Fu Y, Cao M, Liu M. Thermal optimization of composite
- [132] Jiang G, Huang J, Fu Y, Cao M, Liu M. Thermal optimization of composite phase change material/expanded graphite for Li-ion battery thermal management. *Appl Therm Eng* 2016;**108**:1119–25.
- [133] Li Y, Du Y, Xu T, Wu H, Zhou X, Ling Z, et al. Optimization of thermal management system for Li-ion batteries using phase change material. *Appl Therm Eng* 2018;131:766–78.
- [134] Situ W, Zhang G, Li X, Yang X, Wei C, Rao M, et al. A thermal management system for rectangular LiFePO₄ battery module using novel double copper mesh-enhanced phase change material plates. *Energy* 2017;141:613–23.
- [135] Wang Z, Li X, Zhang G, Lv Y, Wang C, He F, et al. Thermal management investigation for lithium-ion battery module with different phase change materials. RSC Adv 2017;7:42909–18.
- [136] Wu W, Wu W, Wang S. Thermal optimization of composite PCM based largeformat lithium-ion battery modules under extreme operating conditions. *En*ergy Convers Manage 2017;153:22–33.
- [137] Zhang J, Li X, He F, He J, Zhong Z, Zhang G. Experimental investigation on thermal management of electric vehicle battery module with paraffin/expanded graphite composite phase change material. *Int J Photoenergy* 2017;2017:1–8.
- [138] Goli P, Legedza S, Dhar A, Salgado R, Renteria J, Balandin AA. Graphene-enhanced hybrid phase change materials for thermal management of Li-ion batteries. J Power Sources 2014;248:37–43.
- [139] Zou D, Ma X, Liu X, Zheng P, Hu Y. Thermal performance enhancement of composite phase change materials (PCM) using graphene and carbon nanotubes as additives for the potential application in lithium-ion power battery. *Int J Heat Mass Transf* 2018;**120**:33–41.
- [140] Karimi G, Azizi M, Babapoor A. Experimental study of a cylindrical lithium ion battery thermal management using phase change material composites. J Energy Storage 2016;8:168–74.
- [141] Wu X, Chen Z, Wang Z. Analysis of low temperature preheating effect based on battery temperature-rise model. *Energies* 2017;10:1121.

- [142] Du J, Chen Z, Li F. Multi-objective optimization discharge method for heating lithium-ion battery at low temperatures. *IEEE Access* 2018;6:44036–49.
- [143] Sun J, Li X, Wei G, Liwei R, Hu C. Low current rate discharge with external heating at low temperature. In: Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference (VPPC), 2015 IEEE. IEEE; 2015. p. 1–5.
- [144] Mohan S, Siegel JB, Stefanopoulou AG, Vasudevan R. An energy-optimal warm-up strategy for Li-ion batteries and its approximations. *IEEE Trans Cont Syst Technol (Early Access)* 2018:1–16.
- [145] Mohan S, Siegel J, Stefanopoulou AG, Castanier M, Ding Y. Synthesis of an energy-optimal self-heating strategy for Li-ion batteries. In: 2016 IEEE 55th Conference on Decision and Control (CDC). IEEE; 2016. p. 1589–94.
- [146] Cui Y, Du C, Yin G, Gao Y, Zhang L, Guan T, et al. Multi-stress factor model for cycle lifetime prediction of lithium ion batteries with shallow-depth discharge. J Power Sources 2015;279:123–32.
- [147] Omar N, Monem MA, Firouz Y, Salminen J, Smekens J, Hegazy O, et al. Lithium iron phosphate based battery – Assessment of the aging parameters and development of cycle life model. *Appl Energy* 2014;113: 1575–1585.
- [148] Mohan S, Kim Y, Stefanopoulou AG. Energy-Conscious warm-up of Li-ion cells from subzero temperatures. *IEEE Trans Indust Electron* 2016;63:2954–64.
- [149] Mohan S.N.Control of lithium-ion battery warm-up from sub-zero temperatures [Doctoral dissertation]: university of Michigan; 2017.
- [150] Mohany S, Kim Y, Stefanopoulou AG, Ding Y. On the warmup of Li-ion cells from sub-zero temperatures. In: *American Control Conference (ACC)*, 2014. IEEE; 2014. p. 1547–52.
- [151] Baba H, Kawasaki K, Kawachi H. Battery heating system for electric vehicles. SAE Technical Paper Series; 2015.
- [152] Wang C-Y, Xu T, Ge S, Zhang G, Yang X-G, Ji Y. A fast rechargeable lithium-ion battery at subfreezing temperatures. J Electrochem Soc 2016;163:A1944–A1A50.
- [153] Zhang G, Ge S, Xu T, Yang X-G, Tian H, Wang C-Y. Rapid self-heating and internal temperature sensing of lithium-ion batteries at low temperatures. *Electrochim. Acta* 2016;218:149–55.
- [154] Zhang G, Ge S, Yang X-G, Leng Y, Marple D, Wang C-Y. Rapid restoration of electric vehicle battery performance while driving at cold temperatures. *J Power Sources* 2017;371:35–40.
- [155] Yang X-G, Zhang G, Wang C-Y. Computational design and refinement of self--heating lithium ion batteries. J Power Sources 2016;328:203–11.
- [156] Zhang G, Tian H, Ge S, Marple D, Sun F, Wang C-Y. Visualization of self--heating of an all climate battery by infrared thermography. J Power Sources 2018;376:111-16.
- [157] Lei Z, Zhang Y, Lei X. Improving temperature uniformity of a lithium-ion battery by intermittent heating method in cold climate. *Int J Heat Mass Transf* 2018;121:275–81.
- [158] Lei Z, Zhang Y, Lei X. Temperature uniformity of a heated lithium-ion battery cell in cold climate. *Appl Therm Eng* 2018;**129**:148–54.
- [159] Yang X-G, Liu T, Wang C-Y. Innovative heating of large-size automotive Li-ion cells. J Power Sources 2017;342:598–604.
- [160] Yang X-G, Zhang G, Ge S, Wang C-Y. Fast charging of lithium-ion batteries at all temperatures. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2018;115:7266–71.
- [161] Hande A. A high frequency inverter for cold temperature battery heating. In: Computers in Power Electronics, 2004 Proceedings 2004 IEEE Workshop on. IEEE; 2004. p. 215–22.
- [162] Hande A, Stuart T. Effects of high frequency AC currents on cold temperature battery performance. In: Proceedings of the 2nd IEEE India International Congress on Power Electronics (IICPE 2004), Mumbai, India; 2004. Citeseer.
- [163] Hande A, Stuart TA. AC heating for EV/HEV batteries. In: Power Electronics in Transportation. IEEE; 2002. p. 119–24.
- [164] Stuart TA, Hande A. HEV battery heating using ac currents. J Power Sources 2004;129:368-78.
- [165] Ruan H, Jiang J, Sun B, Zhang W, Gao W, Wang LY, et al. A rapid low-temperature internal heating strategy with optimal frequency based on constant polarization voltage for lithium-ion batteries. *Appl Energy* 2016;**177**:771–82.
- [166] Jiang J, Ruan H, Sun B, Zhang W, Gao W, Wang LY, et al. A reduced low-temperature electro-thermal coupled model for lithium-ion batteries. *Appl Energy* 2016;177:804-16.
- [167] Li J-q, Fang L, Shi W, Jin X. Layered thermal model with sinusoidal alternate current for cylindrical lithium-ion battery at low temperature. *Energy* 2018;148:247–57.
- [168] Guo S, Xiong R, Sun F, Cao J, Wang K. An echelon internal heating strategy for lithium-ion battery. *Energy Procedia* 2017;142:3135–40.
- [169] Zhao XW, Zhang GY, Yang L, Qiang JX, Chen ZQ. A new charging mode of Li-ion batteries with LiFePO4/C composites under low temperature. J Therm Anal Calorim 2010;104:561–7.
- [170] Ruan H, Jiang J, Sun B, Wu N, Shi W, Zhang Y. Stepwise segmented charging technique for lithium-ion battery to induce thermal management by low-temperature internal heating. In: *Transportation Electrification Asia-Pacific* (*ITEC Asia-Pacific*), 2014 IEEE Conference and Expo. IEEE; 2014. p. 1–6.
- [171] Zhu J, Sun Z, Wei X, Dai H. An alternating current heating method for lithium-ion batteries from subzero temperatures. *Int J Energy Res* 2016;40:1869–83.

- [172] Zuniga M, Jaguemont J, Boulon L, Dube Y. Heating lithium-ion batteries with bidirectional current pulses. In: Vehicle Power and Propulsion Conference (VPPC), 2015 IEEE, IEEE; 2015. p. 1–6.
- [173] Shang Y, Xia B, Cui N, Zhang C, Mi CC. An automotive onboard ac heater without external power supplies for lithium-ion batteries at low temperatures. *IEEE Trans Power Electron* 2018;33:7759–69.
- [174] Shang Y, Zhang C, Cui N, Mi C. A fast-speed heater with internal and external heating for lithium-ion batteries at low temperatures. In: 2018 IEEE Applied Power Electronics Conference and Exposition (APEC). IEEE; 2018. p. 3440–3.
- [175] Shang Y, Zhu C, Fu Y, Mi CC. An integrated heater equalizer for lithium-ion batteries of electric vehicles. *IEEE Trans Indust Electron* 2019;66:4398–405.
- [176] Guo S, Xiong R, Shen W, Sun F. Aging investigation of an echelon internal heating method on a three-electrode lithium ion cell at low temperatures. J Energy Storage 2019;25.



Xiaosong Hu (SM'16) received the Ph.D. degree in Automotive Engineering from Beijing Institute of Technology, China, in 2012. He did scientific research and completed the Ph.D. dissertation in Automotive Research Center at the University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, USA, between 2010 and 2012. He is currently a professor at the State Key Laboratory of Mechanical Transmissions and at the Department of Automotive Engineering, Chongqing University, Chongqing, China. He was a postdoctoral researcher at the Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of California, Berkeley, USA, between 2014 and 2015, as well as at the Swedish Hybrid Vehicle Center and the Department of Signals and Systems at Chalmers

University of Technology, Gothenburg, Sweden, between 2012 and 2014. He was also a visiting postdoctoral researcher in the Institute for Dynamic systems and Control at Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (ETH), Zurich, Switzerland, in 2014. Research interests include battery management technologies and modeling and controls of electrified vehicles. Dr. Hu has published more than 100 high-caliber journal/conference papers. He has been a recipient of several prestigious awards/honors, including SAE Ralph Teetor Educational Award in 2019, Emerging Sustainability Leaders Award in 2016, EU Marie Currie Fellowship in 2015, ASME DSCD Energy Systems Best Paper Award in 2015, and Beijing Best Ph.D. Dissertation Award in 2013. He is a Senior Member of IEEE



Yusheng Zheng received the BS degree in mechanical engineering from Chongqing University in 2018. He is currently pursuing an M.Sc. degree in the College of Automotive Engineering at Chongqing University, Chongqing, China. His research interests include battery thermal management and lithium plating diagnosis at low temperatures.



David A. Howey received his BA and MEng degrees from Cambridge University, Cambridge, UK, in 2002 and his Ph.D. degree from Imperial College London, London, UK, in 2010. He is an Associate Professor in the Department of Engineering Science, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK where he leads a group focused on modelling, diagnostics and control of electrochemical energy devices and systems. He is an editor of IEEE Transactions on Sustainable Energy, as well as an IEEE Senior Member and ECS Member.



Hector E. Perez (S'14–M'17) received the BS degree in mechanical engineering from California State University, Northridge, CA, USA, in 2010, the MSE degree in mechanical engineering from the University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI, USA, in 2012, and the Ph.D. degree in systems engineering from the University of California at Berkeley, Berkeley, CA, USA, in 2016. He is currently a Joint Post-Doctoral Researcher with the University of California at Berkeley and the University of Michigan. His current research interests include modeling, estimation, optimal control, and experimental validation of energy systems. Dr. Perez was a recipient of the Ford Foundation Pre-Doctoral and GEM Fellowships, the AACC O, the Hugo

Shuck Best Paper Award, the ACC Best Student Paper Award, the ASME DSCC Energy Systems Best Paper Award, and the ASME DSCC Best Paper Award in the Renewable Energy Systems Session.



Aoife M. Foley received the BE (Hons.) and Ph.D. degrees from University College Cork, Cork, Ireland, in 1996 and 2011, respectively, and an M.Sc. degree from Trinity College, Dublin, Ireland, in 1999. She worked in industry until 2008. She is currently a Reader in the School of Mechanical and Aerospace Engineering, Queen's University Belfast, Belfast, UK. Her research interests include wind power, energy markets, energy storage, and electric vehicles. She is a Chartered Engineer (2001), a Fellow of Engineers Ireland (2012), and the Editor in Chief of Elsevier Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews.



Michael Pecht (S'78-M'83-SM'90-F'92) received the BS degree in acoustics, the MS degrees in electrical engineering and engineering mechanics, and the Ph.D. degree in engineering mechanics from the University of Wisconsin at Madison, WI, USA, in in 1976, 1978, 1979, and 1982, respectively. He is the Founder of the Center for Advanced Life Cycle Engineering (CALCE), University of Maryland, College Park, MD, USA, where he is also a Chair Professor. He has been leading a research team in the area of prognostics. Dr. Pecht is a Professional Engineer and an IEEE/ASME/SAE Fellow. He has received the IEEE Undergraduate Teaching Award and the International Microelectronics Assembly and Packaging Society (IMAPS) William

D. Ashman Memorial Achievement Award for his contributions in electronics reliability analysis. He served as Chief Editor of the IEEE Transactions on Reliability for eight years and an Associate Editor for the IEEE Transactions on Components and Packaging Technology